

# REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS (RFP) No. 25-024 FOR

# **Human Resources Information System (HRIS)**

The Request for Proposal (RFP) document is available for download at the GoTriangle's website: <a href="https://gotriangle.org/procurement-opportunities">https://gotriangle.org/procurement-opportunities</a>.

A virtual Pre-Offer Conference will be held on **June 24, 2025 at 12:00PM** local NC time. Attendance is not mandatory bit it is highly recommended.

# **Microsoft Teams Meeting Link:**

# Join the meeting

Meeting ID: 296 621 963 074 9

Passcode: PY9fS277

Complete proposals must be received by GoTriangle in an electronic format at <a href="mailto:Procurement@gotriangle.org">Procurement@gotriangle.org</a>, no later than 12:00 local NC time, on July 15, 2025.

Late Proposals will not be considered. No extension or grace period will be given for delays or incomplete proposals caused by internet connectivity problems, file uploading difficulties, or misunderstanding of the requirements. Additional instructions for preparing an Offer are included in this solicitation. Inquiries regarding this solicitation shall be submitted to <a href="mailto:Procurement@gotriangle.org">Procurement@gotriangle.org</a>.

GoTriangle reserves the right to reject any or all proposals.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

WH	AT IS GOTRIANGLE SOLICITING?	4
sco	IS GOTRIANGLE SOLICITING?	
1.	BACKGROUND	5
2.	GENERAL REQUIREMENTS	6
3.	SECURITY AND TECHNICAL REQUIREMENTS	7
4.	•	
5.	•	
6.	TIME AND ATTENDANCE SYSTEM REQUIREMENTS	
7.	PAYROLL SYSTEM REQUIREMENTS	
8.	BENEFITS ADMINISTRATION SYSTEM REQUIREMENTS	
9.	TALENT ACQUISITION SYSTEM REQUIREMENTS	
10.	ONBOARDING SYSTEM REQUIREMENTS	
11.	PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM REQUIREMENTS	
12.	LEARNING MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (LMS) REQUIREMENTS (PREFERRED)	40
13.	EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT (PREFERRED)	
TER	MS AND CONDITIONS	
1.	SERVICES	45
2.	CONTRACT TERM	45
3.	INVOICING AND COMPENSATION	45
4.	CHANGES IN THE SERVICES	46
5.	SERVICES ON GOTRIANGLE'S PREMISES	47
6.	CONFLICT OF INTEREST	49
7.	CONTRACT TERMINATION	49
8.	TRANSITION ASSISTANCE	52
9.	INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS	53
10.	DISPUTE RESOLUTION	54
11.	PERMITS	
12.	CHOICE OF LAW / FORUM	
13.	INSURANCE	
14.	INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR	
15.	ACCURACY OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	
16.	NON-DISCRIMINATION	
17.	COVENANT AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES	56
18.	DELEGATION AND ASSIGNMENT	
19.	NONWAIVER	
20.	MERGER	
21.	REFERENCE	
22.	CONTRACTOR'S PERSONNEL	
23.	CERTIFICATION ON ISRAEL BOYCOTT	
24.	NOTICES	
25.	NO THIRD-PARTY RIGHTS	
26.	SEVERABILITY	
27.	SURVIVORSHIP	
28.	ATTACHMENTS	
29.	SEPARATE COUNTERPARTS	
30.	IRAN DIVESTMENT ACT	
31.	E-VERIFY	
32.	DEBARMENT POLICY	
33.	FORCE MAJEURE	60

34.	OPERATIONAL CONTINUITY	61
35.	ACCEPTANCE PROCESS	
36.	PATENT, COPYRIGHT AND TRADE SECRET PROTECTION	62
37.	SERVICE ORGANIZATION REPORT REQUIREMENT	64
38.	DATA SECURITY	
INST	RUCTIONS TO OFFERORS	
1.	PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL	
2.	ANTICIPATED PROCUREMENT SCHEDULE	72
3.	CONTENTS OF SUBMITTAL	73
4.	ADDENDA	
5.	QUESTIONS AND CLARIFICATIONS	
6.	PRE-OFFER CONFERENCE	77
7.	SELECTION PROCEDURES	
8.	EVALUATION	
9.	PUBLIC RECORDS AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION	79
10.	CONTRACTUAL RELATIONSHIPS	
11.	DISADVANTAGE BUSINESS ENTERPRISE (DBE) PARTICIPATION	
12.	MODIFICATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSALS	
13.	PROPOSAL REJECTION / RESERVED RIGHTS	
14.	NEWS RELEASES	
15.	IDENTIFYING CONFLICTS OF INTEREST	
16.	PROTEST PROCEDURES	
	CHMENTS	
	CHMENT A	
	CHMENT B	
	CHMENT C	
	CHMENT D	
	CHMENT E	
	CHMENT F	
	CHMENT G	
	CHMENT H	
	CHMENT I	
ATTA	CHMENT J	95

# What is GoTriangle soliciting?

Research Triangle Regional Public Transportation Authority d/b/a GoTriangle (GoTriangle), as authorized under the North Carolina General Statues (N.C.G.S) §160A-610, is seeking to establish a contract to provide a **Human Resources Information System (HRIS)**.

Firms may obtain a copy of the Request for Proposal (RFP) document at the GoTriangle's website at <a href="https://GoTriangle.org/procurement-opportunities">https://GoTriangle.org/procurement-opportunities</a>.

GoTriangle anticipates awarding an enterprise-wide system and is seeking one, fully integrated solution. Whether or not GoTriangle actually enters into any contract and how the work is awarded will be decided at GoTriangle's discretion. Furthermore, GoTriangle will use any awarded contract on an as-needed basis, with no guarantee as to the actual spending under any awarded contract.

GoTriangle reserves the right to accept any item or combination of items specified in the Solicitation, unless the offeror expressly restricts an item or combination of items in its offer, and conditions its offer on receiving all items for which it provided a proposal. In the event of such restriction, GoTriangle will evaluate if an award on such a basis will result in the best value for, and in the best interest of, GoTriangle. GoTriangle may otherwise determine at its sole discretion that such restriction is non-responsive and deem the offeror ineligible for further evaluation.

At this time, funds have not yet been allocated and appropriated to pay for work under the resultant contract. GoTriangle anticipates that these funds will be authorized by the time work under the contract is scheduled to commence. No work shall commence, and there shall be no compensation of any kind unless and until funds have been allocated and appropriated to pay for work under this contract.

# **Scope of Services**

#### 1. Background

GoTriangle is a public transit agency serving Durham, Orange, and Wake counties in North Carolina, providing essential mobility services through fixed-route bus, paratransit, and other commuter services. The agency is rapidly scaling up in the upcoming years from around 300 employees to more than 400 individuals across operations, maintenance, customer service, administrative, and professional roles.

In recent years, the agency has experienced organizational changes, including staffing turnover within the Human Resources, Finance, and Information Technology departments, and is now undergoing a broader business transformation effort aimed at modernizing systems and improving internal service delivery. As part of this effort, the agency seeks to implement a comprehensive, cloud-based Human Resources Information System (HRIS) that will centralize and streamline core HR, payroll, and talent functions.

The HRIS will support strategic goals related to compliance, equity, recruitment, retention, and employee experience. The selected system must serve a diverse workforce that includes operators, mechanics, and maintenance personnel, customer information representatives, and administrative professionals. Additionally, the system must meet the needs of a decentralized and partially remote workforce, while aligning with the industry best practices and requirements for technology infrastructure and data security.

The current HRIS environment is composed of manual processes and a mix of unconnected legacy systems including Epicor, StratusTime, Accufund, HR Workspace, ApplicantPool, Onboardforms.com, Employee Navigator, and Percipio. The agency seeks to replace this environment with a modern, integrated solution that offers end-to-end functionality across the employee lifecycle from hiring and onboarding through payroll, benefits, timekeeping, performance management, talent development, and separation.

The ideal proposer will offer:

- An easy-to-use, employee friendly system
- Vendor-supported implementation on an aggressive timeline
- Excellent customer service after implementation, substantiated by enthusiastic references from similarly-situated clients

## 2. General Requirements

The proposed HRIS should provide a unified and consistent user experience across all modules and must support compliance with public-sector employment and data regulations and be configurable without extensive reliance on vendor support. Vendors must offer strong documentation, ongoing support, and a clear implementation plan. Vendors must demonstrate proven success in deploying systems of similar scale and complexity in the public sector.

## 2.1. Unified System and User Experience

- 2.1.1. **Required** The system must function as a unified platform or suite with seamless navigation between modules (e.g., Core HR, Time, Payroll, Benefits, Performance Management, etc.).
- 2.1.2. **Strongly Preferred** Consistent look and feel across modules, with single login, navigation structure, and search tools.
- 2.1.3. **Strongly Preferred** Employees and managers should have a single point of entry (e.g., self-service portal or app) for HR, pay, time, and benefits tasks.
- 2.1.4. **Preferred** Role-based dashboards summarize key actions and deadlines (e.g., time approval, evaluations due, training incomplete).

# 2.2. Implementation and Change Management

- 2.2.1. **Required** Vendor must provide a dedicated implementation team with public-sector experience and a project manager assigned for the duration.
- 2.2.2. **Required** Implementation plan must include: (1) Timeline with key milestones, (2) Data migration strategy, (3) Configuration and testing plan, (4) Parallel run and payroll validation (if applicable), (5) Go-live checklist and contingency planning.
- 2.2.3. **Required** Vendor must provide train-the-trainer materials, admin guides, and end-user documentation.
- 2.2.4. Preferred Vendor offers a staged implementation with priority for Document Management, Core HR, Time and Attendance, Payroll System, and Benefits Administration modules (Sections 4, 5, 6, 7, and 8) in an initial phase, followed by Talent Acquisition and Onboarding (Sections 6 and 10), Performance Management (Section 11), the optional Learning Management System (Section 12) and the optional Employe Engagement tools (Section 13).

2.2.5. **Preferred** – Vendor offers change management toolkits and sample communication templates for internal rollout.

## 2.3. Support and Maintenance

- 2.3.1. **Required** Vendor must provide ongoing technical support via phone, email, and web ticketing with defined response times (e.g., within 4 business hours for priority issues).
- 2.3.2. **Required** Access to a customer knowledge base, training videos, release notes, and user forums must be included.
- 2.3.3. **Required** Regular system updates must be included in licensing at no additional cost.
- 2.3.4. **Preferred** Named customer success representative or account manager post-implementation.
- 2.3.5. **Preferred** Vendor conducts periodic customer check-ins or system health reviews.

## 2.4. Training and Documentation

- 2.4.1. **Required** Vendor must provide comprehensive training materials for administrators, managers, and employees.
- 2.4.2. **Required** Training materials must be accessible post-go-live for onboarding and reference.
- 2.4.3. **Preferred** Training is available in multiple formats (e.g., live sessions, video tutorials, written guides).
- 2.4.4. **Preferred** Online help within the application provides context-sensitive assistance for end users.
- 2.4.5. **Preferred** Vendor will provide updated training materials to align with major system or UI updates.

# 3. Security and Technical Requirements

The proposed HRIS must adhere to modern security protocols and support seamless technical integration with the agency's existing systems and cloud-based infrastructure. The system must protect sensitive employee data, support regulatory compliance, and be configurable and maintainable by agency HR and/or IT staff without reliance on vendor

intervention for routine functions. If the proposed HRIS is composed of multiple solutions, these requirements apply to all components.

#### 3.1. Authentication and Access Control

- 3.1.1. **Required** System must support multi-factor authentication (MFA) for administrator and high-privilege roles.
- 3.1.2. **Required** Role-based access controls must be configurable at the module, field, and workflow level.
- 3.1.3. **Required** Ability to configure access profiles for different user types (e.g., HR staff, managers, auditors, IT admins).
- 3.1.4. **Strongly Preferred** System should support Single Sign-On (SSO) using SAML 2.0 or OAuth2 compatible with Microsoft Entra ID / Azure Active Directory.
- 3.1.5. **Preferred** If system does not support SSO, system should allow self-service username lookup and password reset.
- 3.1.6. **Preferred** System includes impersonation functionality for IT/HR admins to troubleshoot user accounts without compromising security.

## 3.2. Hosting, Architecture, and Availability

- 3.2.1. **Required** Solution must be hosted in a public cloud environment (e.g., AWS, Azure, Google Cloud) and delivered as multi-tenant SaaS with guaranteed uptime of 99.9% or greater.
- 3.2.2. **Required** Vendor must provide documentation on physical and logical security measures for data centers (e.g., SOC 2 compliance).
- 3.2.3. **Required** System must include service level agreements (SLAs) for uptime, response time, and issue resolution.
- 3.2.4. **Preferred** Vendor provides regional data residency options compliant with applicable public-sector regulations.

# 3.3. Data Protection and Privacy

3.3.1. **Required** – All data in transit and at rest must be encrypted using industry-standard protocols (e.g., TLS 1.2+, AES-256).

- 3.3.2. **Required** System must include field-level encryption for highly sensitive data (e.g., SSN, health information).
- 3.3.3. **Required** System must support configurable data retention and purge policies aligned with agency rules and legal requirements.
- 3.3.4. **Required** Audit logs must track access, changes, and deletions with timestamps and user details.
- 3.3.5. **Preferred** System supports secure API key management and IP whitelisting for integrations.
- 3.4. Integrations and Interoperability
  - 3.4.1. System must support integration with:
    - a. **Required** The agency's enterprise financial system (currently Microsoft Dynamics 365) with flexibility to support future ERP transitions (Section 7.6.1)
    - b. **Required** Background check providers (e.g., flat file or API) (Section 9.7.3)
    - c. **Required** Benefits carriers and/or Employee Navigator (834 EDI and other formats) (Section 8.3)
    - d. **Strongly Preferred** Microsoft Entra ID / Azure AD (SSO and user provisioning)
    - e. **Preferred** Trapeze OPS (for workforce scheduling/timekeeping) (Section 6.7.2)
    - f. **Preferred** Microsoft Power BI (all modules)
    - g. **Preferred** Microsoft SharePoint (Section 4.1.7)
  - 3.4.2. **Required** Support for flat-file imports and exports, REST APIs, and scheduled data syncs.
  - 3.4.3. **Required** Vendor maintains up-to-date documentation for all standard integrations and web services.
  - 3.4.4. **Required** Integration platform includes error handling, logging, and retry capabilities.

3.4.5. **Preferred** – Ability to schedule or trigger integrations based on status changes (e.g., employee hire triggers email account provisioning).

## 3.5. System Configuration and Administration

- 3.5.1. **Required** IT staff must be able to configure business rules, approval workflows, and security roles without vendor support.
- 3.5.2. **Required** Admin console must include tools to manage users, permissions, notifications, and integrations.
- 3.5.3. **Required** System must allow administrators to generate data extracts or backup snapshots on demand.

## 3.6. System Updates

- 3.6.1. **Required** Vendor must provide system updates, including security patches, bug fixes, regulatory updates, and feature enhancements, as part of the standard licensing or subscription cost. Updates must be deployed on a regular schedule and/or as needed to maintain compliance with applicable laws (e.g., FLSA, ACA, tax codes), ensure system stability, and improve user functionality. The system must be updated without requiring significant downtime or manual intervention by agency staff.
- 3.6.2. **Required** Vendor must communicate system updates at least 30 days in advance with documentation of changes.
- 3.6.3. **Required** Sandbox or staging environment for testing configuration changes before applying to production.
- 3.6.4. **Required** HR, Payroll and IT staff must have access to a test or staging environment to preview upcoming releases.
- 3.6.5. **Preferred** Optional features or major UI changes can be toggled on/off or phased in by the agency
- 3.6.6. **Preferred** Self-service release notes and training materials must be available prior to system updates.

## 3.7. Mobile and Browser Compatibility

3.7.1. **Required** – Employee and manager self-service portals must be accessible via modern browsers and mobile devices.

- 3.7.2. **Required** All modules must function in at least the two most recent versions of Chrome, Edge, Firefox, and Safari.
- 3.7.3. **Preferred** Vendor provides native mobile app (iOS and Android) for employee access to self-service portals.

## 4. Document Management System Requirements

The proposed HRIS must include a Document Management module that supports secure, centralized, and fully electronic personnel records. The system must allow HR, managers, and employees to view, upload, and manage documents based on role-based permissions, while maintaining compliance with federal, state, and local recordkeeping requirements. Document workflows must be configurable without vendor intervention and must support internal review, approvals, and retention policies. A single document management repository shared by all modules is strongly preferred.

## 4.1. Core Document Management Features

- 4.1.1. **Required** System must support creation and maintenance of electronic personnel files for all employees.
- 4.1.2. **Required** System must support upload and download of standard file types (e.g., PDF, Word, Excel, JPEG).
- 4.1.3. **Required** Documents must be associated with employee records and categorized by document type (e.g., I-9, performance evaluation, FMLA, license).
- 4.1.4. **Required** Each document must include metadata such as upload date, document type, uploader identity, and expiration date if applicable.
- 4.1.5. **Preferred** Ability to tag documents with custom fields (e.g., union status, renewal cycle) for filtering and reporting.
- 4.1.6. **Preferred** System supports in-application preview of documents.
- 4.1.7. **Preferred** Supports unlimited document types with configurable file size and allowed extensions.
- 4.1.8. **Preferred** For Microsoft Office documents, system supports real-time simultaneous editing via SharePoint or similar interface.

## 4.2. Access Controls and Security

- 4.2.1. **Required** Role-based access must control visibility and edit permissions at the document type level (e.g., supervisors can view evaluations but not medical files).
- 4.2.2. **Required** System must support confidential document categories (e.g., medical, investigations, accommodations) with restricted access.
- 4.2.3. **Required** System must support audit logging of document views, uploads, edits, and deletions.
- 4.2.4. **Preferred** Enhanced security protocols for Personally Identifiable Information (PII) and protected health information (PHI).
- 4.2.5. **Preferred** Ability to mark documents as "read-only" or prevent deletion based on classification or approval status.

## 4.3. Document Workflow and Signatures

- 4.3.1. **Required** System must support routing of documents for review and approval, including e-signature where applicable.
- 4.3.2. **Required** HR must be able to assign document completion tasks to employees or managers (e.g., upload license, sign handbook).
- 4.3.3. **Required** Automated notifications must be triggered when documents are due, expired, or awaiting signature.
- 4.3.4. **Required** Integration with onboarding, performance, and leave workflows for automatic document creation and filing.
- 4.3.5. **Required** Employees can complete and sign documents directly through the employee portal or mobile app.

# 4.4. Retention and Compliance

- 4.4.1. **Required** System must support document retention scheduling by type, with automatic reminders or expiration actions (e.g., archive, delete).
- 4.4.2. **Required** HR must be able to configure retention rules based on local, state, and federal requirements (e.g., I-9 retention post-termination).
- 4.4.3. **Required** Reports must be available to identify missing, expired, or upcoming document requirements by employee or department.

4.4.4. **Preferred** – Ability to apply legal holds or override retention policies in case of litigation or audit.

## 4.5. Reporting and File Management

- 4.5.1. **Required** Reports must include: (1) Document inventory by employee or department, (2) Expiring documents, (3) Missing required documents by document type, (4) File size and usage tracking (for cloud storage management).
- 4.5.2. **Required** Export capabilities to Excel, PDF, and CSV formats.
- 4.5.3. **Preferred** Drag-and-drop upload and bulk upload capabilities for document import.
- 4.5.4. **Preferred** Searchable document repository across employees and categories.
- 4.5.5. **Preferred** Ability to designate certain documents to be viewable by managers.

## 5. Core Human Resources System Requirements

The proposed HRIS must provide a centralized system of record for all employee data and support efficient, paperless processing of core HR functions. It must include the following capabilities:

## 5.1. Centralized Employee Database

- 5.1.1. **Required** A single record of truth for each employee, accessible to HR, supervisors, and employees based on role.
- 5.1.2. **Required** Ability to track demographic information, employment history, compensation, position assignments, certifications, training, and performance data.
- 5.1.3. **Required** Track an unlimited number of user-defined fields and allow HR to configure those without vendor support.
- 5.1.4. **Required** Audit trail of data changes including timestamp and user who made the change.
- 5.1.5. **Required** Distinct recordkeeping for concurrent roles (e.g., employees appointed to temporary/interim assignments).

- 5.1.6. **Required** Ability to track employee status across multiple employment types (e.g., seasonal, part-time, grant-funded, temporary, intern) with user-defined categories.
- 5.1.7. **Required** Ability to store and report on civil rights data (e.g., race, sex, veteran status, disability status) for compliance reporting.
- 5.1.8. **Preferred** Ability to manage and track official work locations and remote/hybrid statuses.
- 5.1.9. **Preferred** Support for multiple unique identifiers: employee ID, last 4 of SSN, license numbers (e.g., driver's license or commercial vehicle certification).
- 5.2. Organizational Structure and Position Management
  - 5.2.1. **Required** Ability to define and manage a position-based organizational hierarchy with an unlimited number of client-defined levels, departments, locations, jobs, and positions.
  - 5.2.2. **Required** Support for vacant and filled positions, including customizable position control numbers.
  - 5.2.3. **Required** Tools to support reorganization, temporary reassignments, interim assignments, and succession planning.
  - 5.2.4. **Required** Ability to associate budget codes or general ledger strings with positions for accounting integration.
  - 5.2.5. **Required** Ability to designate positions as overfilled, underfilled, or on hold for historical or compliance purposes.
  - 5.2.6. **Required** Ability to track effective dates of positions and assignments, including overlapping or future-dated assignments.
  - 5.2.7. **Required** Ability to associate groups of positions with general ledger strings and workers compensation codes.
  - 5.2.8. **Preferred** Tracking of FTE allocation and budgeted vs. actual staffing.
  - 5.2.9. **Preferred** Ability to bulk load budgeted positions including control numbers and titles from agency financial system.

## 5.3. Personnel Action Processing and Workflow

- 5.3.1. **Required** Configurable workflows for personnel actions including: (1) New hires, (2) Promotions, (3) Transfers, (4) Pay changes, (5) Terminations, (6) FMLA and leave of absence notifications.
- 5.3.2. **Required** Support for alternate workflows based on initiator role (e.g., manager-submitted vs. HR-submitted changes).
- 5.3.3. **Required** Role-based approval routing with automated notifications, reminders, and audit tracking of all approval activity.
- 5.3.4. **Required –** Support for workflow delegation (e.g., vacation backup) and unlimited approval levels.
- 5.3.5. **Required** Administrator dashboard to view/cancel pending workflows and view full workflow history.
- 5.3.6. **Required** Ability to attach supporting documentation (PDFs, Word, Excel) to personnel actions.
- 5.3.7. **Required** Reporting tools for tracking action status and throughput time.
- 5.3.8. **Required** Ability to push notifications to email.
- 5.3.9. **Preferred** Ability to push notifications to Microsoft Teams.

#### 5.4. Compensation and Salary Administration

- 5.4.1. **Required** Support for pay grades, step progressions, and market-based salary structures.
- 5.4.2. **Required** Ability to assign multiple compensation components to an employee (e.g., base pay, shift differential, interim pay).
- 5.4.3. **Required** Ability to assign pay change effective dates in the past or future.
- 5.4.4. **Required** Tools to conduct bulk wage/salary updates for pre-defined groups of employees.
- 5.4.5. **Required** Integration with payroll to ensure accurate pay calculations.
- 5.4.6. **Required** Effective-dated salary tables with tracking of grades, steps, and historical changes.

- 5.4.7. **Required** Track compensation limits by pay grade and provide warnings for over-range offers.
- 5.4.8. **Preferred** Retroactive pay calculation and workflow, with audit trail and configurable time window (e.g., 90 days, 2 years) (Section 7).
- 5.4.9. **Preferred** Native payroll functionality (Section 7).
- 5.4.10. **Preferred** Ability to conduct bulk wage/salary updates for ad-hoc groups of employees.
- 5.4.11. **Preferred** Native compensation analysis functionality or integration with salary.com or similar tool.
- 5.4.12. **Preferred** Native ability to model salary changes or compensation scenarios for individuals or groups (e.g., modeling cost of COLA).
- 5.4.13. **Preferred** Provide individual total compensation statements available to employee self-service.
- 5.5. Job Description and Classification Management
  - 5.5.1. **Required** Central library of job descriptions tied to position types.
  - 5.5.2. **Required** Version control and change tracking for job descriptions.
  - 5.5.3. **Required** Support for multiple classification types (e.g. salaried/exempt, salaried/non-exempt, hourly/non-exempt).
  - 5.5.4. **Required** Support for job families and career ladders.
  - 5.5.5. **Required** Self-service tools for hiring managers to propose revisions subject to HR review.
  - 5.5.6. **Required** Ability to integrate with classification and compensation software (e.g. Salary.com Comp Analyst).
  - 5.5.7. **Preferred** Maintain master job title list with EEO and workers compensation codes, FLSA status, and other regulatory fields.
  - 5.5.8. **Preferred** Native job description component database with ability to build new descriptions from existing component parts and bulk update wording across multiple descriptions (e.g., replace "Proficiency with Microsoft Office Suite" with "Proficiency with Microsoft Office Suite including SharePoint and Teams" in multiple descriptions at once).

5.5.9. **Preferred** – Native tools to manage salary grades.

## 5.6. Employee and Manager Self-Service

- 5.6.1. **Required** Secure employee portal to view/update personal information, access forms, view job history, submit requests, upload and attach supporting documentation, and view and print official documents (e.g., W-2s, employment verification letters, performance reviews).
- 5.6.2. **Required** Manager portal for viewing team member data, initiating personnel actions, and tracking deadlines (e.g., probationary review dates).
- 5.6.3. **Required** Configurable announcements and action-required alerts (e.g., "Submit emergency contact info").
- 5.6.4. **Required –** Allow employees to electronically sign documents and configure visibility of forms by role.
- 5.6.5. **Required** Employee self-service portal must be mobile-friendly or offer native iOS and Android apps.
- 5.6.6. **Preferred** Manager portal should be mobile-friendly or offer native iOS/Android apps.
- 5.6.7. **Required** Ability to push notifications to email.
- 5.6.8. **Preferred** Ability to push notifications to Microsoft Teams.
- 5.6.9. **Preferred** Allow managers to delegate self-service functions during absences.

## 5.7. Case Management

- 5.7.1. **Required** Includes or integrates with a case management feature that supports the tracking, documentation, and resolution of HR-related employee inquiries and transactions.
- 5.7.2. **Required** Provides visibility into the status of each case, supports assignment and escalation workflows, and allows HR staff to document resolution steps and maintain compliance records.
- 5.7.3. **Required** Cases must be linked to employee records and include subject, status, assigned staff, key dates, and resolution notes.

- 5.7.4. **Required** Allows HR staff to create and track individual cases related to benefit questions, issues, or transactions (e.g., dependent eligibility, enrollment errors, COBRA notifications, life event documentation).
- 5.7.5. **Required** Role-based access controls must limit visibility of case content to appropriate HR staff.
- 5.7.6. **Required** System must support internal notes, document attachments, and task assignments related to the case.
- 5.7.7. **Required** System must allow HR to assign, reassign, and escalate cases with audit trail of actions taken.
- 5.7.8. **Preferred** Employees can submit questions or requests through the self-service portal, which initiate a case automatically.
- 5.7.9. **Preferred** System supports tracking of response time goals and provides reporting on case volume, average resolution time, and trends by case type.
- 5.7.10. **Preferred** Cases can trigger automated workflows for common scenarios (e.g., notify payroll for deduction corrections, flag expiring documentation).

## 5.8. Reporting and Analytics

- 5.8.1. **Required** Standard reports (e.g., headcount, turnover, EEO metrics, FTE utilization).
- 5.8.2. **Required** Ad hoc query builder with a user-friendly interface (no advanced technical skill required).
- 5.8.3. **Required** Ability to drill down from dashboards or reports into individual records, based on user security permissions.
- 5.8.4. **Required** Ability to track data changes over time and generate point-in-time reports (e.g., "what was this person's department assignment on July 1?")
- 5.8.5. **Required** Export capabilities to Excel, PDF, and CSV formats.
- 5.8.6. **Required** Scheduled delivery of reports to designated users.
- 5.8.7. **Required** System-generated reports should not interrupt end-user application performance.
- 5.8.8. **Preferred** Standard compliance reporting for EEO-4, OSHA, and ACA.

- 5.8.9. **Preferred** Ability for certain users to save ad hoc reports for future use.
- 5.8.10. **Preferred** Scheduled upload of reports to Microsoft SharePoint via PowerApps or similar functionality.
- 5.8.11. **Preferred** Native configurable dashboards by role (e.g., HR, Finance, Department Head) with charts, alerts, and KPIs.
- 5.8.12. **Preferred** Native integration with Microsoft Power Bl.

#### 5.9. Compliance and Records Retention

- 5.9.1. **Required** System must store audit trails for all activities showing who made each change and when. Audit details must be available via exported report.
- 5.9.2. **Required** Configurable data retention policies aligned with local, state, and federal recordkeeping rules.
- 5.9.3. **Required** Tools for producing audit-ready files (e.g., for EEOC, FMLA, I-9).
- 5.9.4. **Required** Supports enhanced access controls for sensitive data (e.g., disability accommodation requests, medical information, investigative files).
- 5.9.5. **Required** Role-based access to sensitive data fields.
- 5.9.6. **Preferred** Access to audit trails visibly in-app.
- 5.9.7. **Preferred** Ability to define record retention rules by document type and auto-expire or flag for deletion based on those rules.

#### 6. Time and Attendance System Requirements

The proposed HRIS must include a Time and Attendance module that supports complex public sector scheduling and pay practices. The system must accurately track time worked, manage leave accruals, support compliance with FLSA rules, and interface seamlessly with payroll and scheduling systems. It must accommodate a wide range of employee groups, including remote workers, field-based operators, administrative staff, and part-time or seasonal personnel.

## 6.1. Time Capture and Employee Access

6.1.1. **Required** – Employees must be able to submit time via multiple methods, including web entry, mobile app, or physical timeclock.

- 6.1.2. **Required** System must support real-time punch-in/punch-out, as well as retroactive time entry with supervisor approval.
- 6.1.3. **Required** Time entry interface must be mobile-friendly or offer native iOS/Android apps.
- 6.1.4. **Required** Support configurable rounding rules, grace periods, and lockout windows by employee group or work rule.
- 6.1.5. **Required** Time entry must be able to be tracked by pre-configured projects and tasks tied to general ledger strings.
- 6.1.6. **Preferred** System must prevent duplicate, overlapping, or illogical time entries (e.g., working two shifts at the same time or overlapping PTO and regular hours).
- 6.1.7. **Preferred** Geolocation tagging available for mobile punches or remote work validation.
- 6.1.8. **Preferred** Time entry system is a component of Core HR employee and manager self-service (Section 5.6), not a separate web interface or app.
- 6.1.9. **Preferred** Physical timeclock supports biometric (fingerprint, facial recognition) or badge scan time capture options for secure access.

## 6.2. Scheduling and Shift Rules

- 6.2.1. **Required** System must accommodate multiple schedule types (e.g., fixed, rotating, split shifts) and track scheduled vs. actual hours worked.
- 6.2.2. **Required** System must support shift differentials, weekend premiums, standby/on-call status, and call-back pay according to agency-defined rules.
- 6.2.3. **Required** Ability to apply blackout dates and enforce scheduling rules (e.g., rest between shifts, max hours per day).
- 6.2.4. **Preferred** Visual schedule builder for supervisors to assign or adjust shifts and view availability.
- 6.2.5. **Preferred** Employees can view published schedules, request changes, and receive schedule notifications via app.
- 6.2.6. **Preferred** Employees can receive schedule notifications via SMS.

- 6.2.7. **Preferred** System supports employee shift swap requests and supervisor approval workflows.
- 6.2.8. **Preferred** Ability to track voluntary vs. mandatory overtime separately, with reporting by department or employee.

## 6.3. Leave and Accrual Management

- 6.3.1. **Required** System must support complex leave accrual policies (e.g., by seniority, hours worked, position group).
- 6.3.2. **Required** Accruals and balances must update in real-time and be viewable by employees and managers.
- 6.3.3. **Required** Time off requests must follow configurable approval workflows and include blackout periods or limits.
- 6.3.4. **Required** System must prevent submission or approval of requests that exceed available balances unless explicitly allowed.
- 6.3.5. **Required** System must support enforcement of carryover limits.
- 6.3.6. **Preferred** System should support optional automatic cashout of accrued leave in excess of carryover limits at end of year.
- 6.3.7. **Preferred** System should support review, approval, and processing of employee-initiated cashout requests throughout the year.
- 6.3.8. **Preferred** Automated notifications when balances are low or nearing carryover limits.

## 6.4. FLSA and Labor Compliance

- 6.4.1. **Required** System must calculate and track overtime, comp time, bonus time off, and blended rate OT in accordance with FLSA.
- 6.4.2. **Required** Accurately track exempt employees' leave use to ensure pay docking only when appropriate.
- 6.4.3. **Preferred** System supports alerts and enforcement for pre-defined limits on hours (e.g., max weekly hours for part-time staff).

## 6.5. Supervisor and Manager Functionality

- 6.5.1. **Required –** System must support employee certification or sign-off of timecards prior to submission.
- 6.5.2. **Required** Supervisors must be able to view, approve, reject, and edit time entries for their teams.
- 6.5.3. **Required** Supervisors must receive alerts for missing, incomplete, or out-of-policy timecards.
- 6.5.4. **Preferred** Supervisor dashboard showing team status: hours submitted, overtime trends, pending approvals.
- 6.5.5. **Preferred** Real-time alerts for exceptions such as missed punches, unapproved OT, or excessive hours trigger to payroll, HR, and/or supervisors.

## 6.6. Reporting, Analytics, and Compliance

- 6.6.1. **Required** System must support real-time audit logging of all time entry edits, approvals, and overrides.
- 6.6.2. **Required** Standard reports must include: (1) Hours worked by employee and department, (2) Overtime by week/pay period, (3) Exceptions (missed punches, unapproved time, out-of-bounds entries), (4) Leave usage by category and employee.
- 6.6.3. **Required** Ad hoc query builder with a user-friendly interface (no advanced technical skill required).
- 6.6.4. **Required** Export capabilities to Excel, PDF, and CSV formats.
- 6.6.5. **Required** Scheduled delivery of reports to designated users.
- 6.6.6. **Required** System-generated reports should not interrupt end-user application performance.
- 6.6.7. **Preferred** Native integration with Microsoft Power Bl.
- 6.6.8. **Preferred** Scheduled upload of reports to Microsoft SharePoint via PowerApps or similar functionality.

## 6.7. Integration and Technical Requirements

- 6.7.1. **Required** Seamless integration with payroll module to transfer approved time and leave data for earnings calculations (Section 7.3.1).
- 6.7.2. **Required** Ability to push notifications to email
- 6.7.3. **Preferred** Ability to push notifications to Microsoft Teams.
- 6.7.4. **Preferred** Ability to import schedule or assignment data from third-party systems (agency currently uses Trapeze OPS workforce scheduling for fixed route operations and maintenance staff).
- 6.7.5. **Preferred** Ability to sync time and attendance data with leave management and HR workflows (e.g., automatic sick leave tracking after a call-out).

## 7. Payroll System Requirements

The proposed HRIS must include a Payroll module capable of processing payroll for a public-sector agency with multiple employee types and complex pay rules. The system must ensure accurate, compliant, and auditable payroll processing while supporting various compensation models, deduction types, and benefit programs. It must interface seamlessly with the HRIS Time & Attendance and Core HR modules (Sections Error! Reference source not found. and 6) and the agency financial system (currently Microsoft Dynamics 365), and support federal, state, and local tax reporting requirements.

## 7.1. Payroll Processing and Configuration

- 7.1.1. **Required** System must support processing for multiple employee types, including hourly, salaried, part-time, seasonal, and interns.
- 7.1.2. **Required** Ability to run multiple payrolls concurrently (e.g., regular payroll, off-cycle checks, special payments).
- 7.1.3. **Required** System must support retroactive pay, manual overrides, and recalculation of pay for historical corrections with full audit tracking.
- 7.1.4. **Required** Ability to process one-time payments (e.g., stipends, bonuses, back pay) and recurring earnings.
- 7.1.5. **Required** System must allow preview of full payroll before final processing, including gross-to-net and tax calculations.

- 7.1.6. **Required** Ability to calculate payroll for a single employee or subgroup without recalculating the entire payroll batch.
- 7.1.7. **Preferred** Payroll staff can preview individual pay results before final processing.
- 7.1.8. **Preferred** Adjustments can be imported in bulk from a CSV or Excel file.
- 7.1.9. **Preferred** Audit reports update in real-time as corrections are made without rerunning payroll.
- 7.1.10. **Preferred** System should allow multiple authorized users to work in the same pay group simultaneously without locking records.

## 7.2. Earnings, Deductions, and Pay Rules

- 7.2.1. **Required** System must support unlimited earnings types, including overtime, shift differential, call-back pay, standby/on-call pay, and longevity pay.
- 7.2.2. **Required** Support for FLSA-compliant overtime, comp time, bonus time off, and blended rate calculations.
- 7.2.3. **Required** System must support pre-tax and post-tax deductions for a variety of benefit plans on a percentage basis or as a straight dollar amount (including but not limited to FSA, HSA, 401(a), 457(b)) and must seamlessly integrate with Benefits Administration module for deductions information (Section 8.3.3).
- 7.2.4. **Required** Deduction rules must allow for prioritization (e.g., garnishments before voluntary deductions).
- 7.2.5. **Required** Deduction limits must be enforceable by federal and planspecific rules (e.g., deferred compensation maximums).
- 7.2.6. **Preferred** System supports garnishment calculations with vendor database and multi-level prioritization.

## 7.3. Leave, Time, and Accrual Integration

- 7.3.1. **Required** System must integrate with timekeeping and leave modules to import hours worked, leave taken, and applicable pay codes.
- 7.3.2. **Required** System must prorate pay appropriately for salaried employees starting or ending employment mid-pay cycle.

7.3.3. **Preferred** – Payroll reflects approved leave cashouts or adjustments automatically from leave management (Section 6.3).

## 7.4. Tax Administration and Year-End Processing

- 7.4.1. **Required** System must support all federal, state, and local payroll tax calculations, including reciprocity agreements.
- 7.4.2. **Required** System must handle multi-state taxation based on home and work locations.
- 7.4.3. **Required** System must support employer-paid taxes and benefits and track imputed income.
- 7.4.4. **Required** System must support electronic submission of W-2, W-4, 941, 1095-C, and other required Federal and State tax filings and forms.
- 7.4.5. **Required** System must allow entry of one-time tax override amounts (e.g., supplemental tax flat rates, special withholding elections
- 7.4.6. **Preferred** System provides built-in audit reports to validate tax calculations and identify issues before filing.
- 7.4.7. **Preferred** Solution facilitates obtaining content for electronic-only W-2 distribution and facilitates paper distribution to employees who have not consented to electronic-only distribution.

## 7.5. Employee Self-Service

- 7.5.1. **Required** Employees must be able to view and download pay stubs, W-2s, and current deductions via self-service.
- 7.5.2. **Required** Employees must be able to enter and update direct deposit information with appropriate validation and audit trail.
- 7.5.3. **Required** Self-service must support multiple deposit accounts and split deposit by percent or amount.

## 7.6. Finance and General Ledger Integration

- 7.6.1. **Required** Payroll system must integrate with the agency's financial system (currently Microsoft Dynamics 365).
- 7.6.2. **Required** System must generate general ledger export files with correct fund, department, and object coding.

- 7.6.3. **Required –** Payroll system must support manual check issuance, voids, and reissues directly from within the platform.
- 7.6.4. **Required** Voiding a check must automatically reverse associated taxes, deductions, and general ledger entries.
- 7.6.5. **Preferred** General ledger mapping can be managed by agency staff without vendor support and accommodate exceptions (e.g., off-cycle payrolls, grant-funded roles).

## 7.7. Reporting, Auditing, and Security

- 7.7.1. **Required** Standard reports must include payroll register, gross-to-net, deduction summary, tax summary, and exception reports.
- 7.7.2. **Required** Ad hoc reporting and audit logs must be available for all changes to earnings, deductions, or employee records.
- 7.7.3. **Required** Payroll processing actions (e.g., overrides, voids, adjustments) must be timestamped and user-tracked.
- 7.7.4. **Required** System must support report export to Excel, PDF, and CSV.
- 7.7.5. **Required** Role-based access to payroll information with strict controls on sensitive data (e.g., SSN, direct deposit).
- 7.7.6. **Required** System-generated reports should not interrupt end-user application performance.
- 7.7.7. **Preferred** Scheduled report delivery and alerting for exceptions or processing anomalies.
- 7.7.8. **Preferred** Native integration with Microsoft Power Bl.
- 7.7.9. **Preferred** Scheduled upload of reports to Microsoft SharePoint via PowerApps or similar functionality.

#### 8. Benefits Administration System Requirements

The proposed HRIS must either (1) seamlessly integrate with Employee Navigator or (2) include a Benefits Administration module that supports efficient, accurate, and compliant enrollment and administration of agency benefit programs compliant with the requirements of this section. The system must support multiple plan types, contribution structures, eligibility rules, and deduction timing requirements. It must provide a user-friendly self-

service experience for employees and offer robust tools for HR to manage enrollment, vendor reporting, and Affordable Care Act (ACA) compliance.

## 8.1. Plan Configuration and Eligibility Rules

- 8.1.1. **Required** System must support configuration of unlimited benefit plans and options, including: (1) Medical, dental, vision, (2) Basic and supplemental life insurance, (3) Long- and short-term disability, (4) Deferred compensation (e.g., 457(b), 401(a), Roth), (5) Health savings accounts (HSA) and flexible spending accounts (FSA), (6) Other optional benefits.
- 8.1.2. **Required** Eligibility rules must be configurable based on job type, union affiliation, FTE, and other demographic fields.
- 8.1.3. **Required** Ability to configure multiple waiting periods (e.g., first of the month following 30 days) and different rules for different employee groups.
- 8.1.4. **Required** Supports employer and employee contribution tracking, including tiered rates and imputed income calculations.
- 8.1.5. **Preferred** Benefit eligibility is updated dynamically during onboarding or status changes, based on employee data.

## 8.2. Enrollment Management

- 8.2.1. **Required** Employees must be able to complete benefit elections through self-service, including open enrollment and qualifying life events.
- 8.2.2. **Required** Enrollment workflows must support document uploads (e.g., marriage certificate, birth certificate) with HR approval steps.
- 8.2.3. **Required** System must prevent ineligible elections and enforce dependent age limits and coverage tiers.
- 8.2.4. **Required** Employees can view total cost per pay period and annualized cost as they make selections.
- 8.2.5. **Required** HR can configure enrollment windows, blackout dates, and planspecific restrictions without vendor support.
- 8.2.6. **Preferred** Support for employee "keep current" elections during open enrollment.

## 8.3. Carrier Feeds and Payroll Deduction Integration

- 8.3.1. **Required** System must generate carrier files in standard formats (e.g., 834 EDI, flat file) for medical, dental, vision, and other plans.
- 8.3.2. **Required** Ability to configure custom exports by carrier and schedule regular file generation and delivery.
- 8.3.3. **Required** Enrollment and deduction changes must flow automatically to payroll with correct effective dates (Section 7.2.3).
- 8.3.4. **Preferred** System allows for HR to track feed status and exceptions (e.g., rejected records or mismatches).
- 8.3.5. **Preferred** Ability to manually resend corrected files or records to carriers as needed.

#### 8.4. Employee Self-Service and Communication

- 8.4.1. **Required** Employees must be able to: (1) View current and past benefit elections, (2) Access plan documents and summary of benefits, (3) Update beneficiary and dependent information, (4) Upload supporting documents, (5) Print or download confirmation statements.
- 8.4.2. **Required** System supports configuration of dynamic help text, instructional messages, and links to vendor websites.
- 8.4.3. **Preferred** System supports plan comparison tools and cost calculators during enrollment.
- 8.4.4. **Preferred** If not satisfying the requirements of this section using Employee Navigator, self-service should be integrated with Core HR employee self-service platform (Section 5.6).

# 8.5. ACA and Compliance Reporting

- 8.5.1. **Required** System must support ACA compliance including: (1) Measurement, administrative, and stability period tracking, (2) Identification of full-time eligible employees based on hours worked, (3) Generation of IRS forms 1094-C and 1095-C.
- 8.5.2. **Required** System tracks offer of coverage and employee response for audit readiness.

- 8.5.3. **Preferred** Dashboard tracking of ACA eligibility status by employee and group.
- 8.5.4. **Preferred** Supports override of automatic determinations with reason tracking and audit log.

## 8.6. Reporting and Analytics

- 8.6.1. **Required** Standard benefit reports must include: (1) Enrollment by plan and tier, (2) Dependent coverage, (3) Contribution summary by employee and employer, (4) Open enrollment completion tracking, (5) Carrier feed logs and errors.
- 8.6.2. **Required** Ad hoc query builder with a user-friendly interface (no advanced technical skill required).
- 8.6.3. **Required** Export capabilities to Excel, PDF, and CSV formats.
- 8.6.4. **Required** Scheduled delivery of reports to designated users.
- 8.6.5. **Required** Role-based access to benefits information with strict controls on sensitive data (e.g., SSN, PII for dependents and beneficiaries).
- 8.6.6. **Required** System-generated reports should not interrupt end-user application performance.
- 8.6.7. **Preferred** Native integration with Microsoft Power Bl.
- 8.6.8. **Preferred** Scheduled upload of reports to Microsoft SharePoint via PowerApps or similar functionality.

## 9. Talent Acquisition System Requirements

The proposed HRIS must include a robust Talent Acquisition module that supports equitable and efficient hiring processes for a variety of employee types. It must accommodate high-volume hiring for operations roles (e.g., bus operators), while also supporting customized processes for professional and administrative positions. The system must support both centralized and decentralized hiring and be configurable without vendor intervention.

# 9.1. Requisition and Job Posting Management

9.1.1. **Required** – Hiring managers can initiate requisitions directly within the system, or HR can initiate on their behalf.

- 9.1.2. **Required** System must support multiple requisition templates and workflows based on job type (e.g., new vs. replacement).
- 9.1.3. **Required** Job details must be prepopulated from job description database (Section 5.5.1), eliminating manual data entry.
- 9.1.4. **Required** Requisitions can be routed for approval via configurable workflows with role-based approvers.
- 9.1.5. **Required** Ability to advertise multiple levels or classifications in a single requisition (e.g., Planner I/II).
- 9.1.6. **Required** Support for "evergreen" postings used for continuous recruitment of high-volume positions.
- 9.1.7. **Required** Hiring managers can track open and closed requisitions via a dashboard limited to their scope.
- 9.1.8. **Required** System-generated requisition numbers and automated tracking of requisition lifecycle.
- 9.2. Candidate Experience and Application Management
  - 9.2.1. **Required** Public-facing application portal with accessibility compliance (WCAG 2.1 AA minimum).
  - 9.2.2. **Required** Applicants can apply using multiple methods: resume upload, manual entry, LinkedIn, Indeed, etc.
  - 9.2.3. **Required** Candidates must be able to create accounts, save progress, and check application status.
  - 9.2.4. **Required** Application includes customizable "knockout" and screening questions.
  - 9.2.5. **Required** Application process includes voluntary self-identification for EEO, veteran, and disability status with ability to redact from reviewers.
  - 9.2.6. **Required** Retains applicant data and materials based on configurable retention schedules.
  - 9.2.7. **Required** Ability to send automated email and text message (SMS) updates to applicants.

- 9.2.8. **Preferred** Applicants can self-schedule assessments or interviews based on available slots.
- 9.2.9. **Preferred** System prevents duplicate applications to the same requisition.
- 9.2.10. **Preferred** Candidate portal supports alternate languages (e.g. Spanish), if needed based on applicant demographics.

#### 9.3. Recruitment Workflow and Collaboration Tools

- 9.3.1. **Required** System must support configurable workflows for: (1) Application screening, (2) Committee review, (3) Interviews and testing, (4) Offer approval, (5) Pre-employment checks.
- 9.3.2. **Required** Interview panels can view candidate packets, enter evaluations, and use configurable rating matrices.
- 9.3.3. **Required** Sensitive applicant information (e.g., name, gender, race) can be redacted from review stages.
- 9.3.4. **Required** System logs all evaluations and final decisions, with timestamped audit trail.
- 9.3.5. **Required** Ability to configure workflows by job type or department (e.g., different routing for Operations vs. Admin) without vendor assistance.
- 9.3.6. **Preferred** Support for workflow delegation (e.g., vacation backup) and unlimited approval levels.
- 9.3.7. **Preferred** Hiring committee collaboration features such as shared notes, discussion threads, and real-time feedback.

#### 9.4. Offer Management and Pre-Hire Processing

- 9.4.1. **Required** System must support generation, routing, and approval of electronic offer letters.
- 9.4.2. **Required** Offer letters can include variable content based on job type, location, or other information.
- 9.4.3. **Required** Offer letter templates must support versioning and conditional logic (e.g., contingent upon drug test).
- 9.4.4. **Required –** Offer letter fields must support merge from requisition, candidate profile, and compensation data without manual entry.

- 9.4.5. **Required** Upon candidate acceptance, the system must automatically trigger onboarding workflows and create a pending employee record.
- 9.4.6. **Preferred** Ability to generate multiple offer versions and track changes, including when offers are rejected or renegotiated.

## 9.5. Pre-Employment Screening

9.5.1. **Required** – Ability to integrate with background check, motor vehicle record, and drug and alcohol screening providers.

## 9.6. Reporting, Analytics, and Compliance

- 9.6.1. Required Generate standard recruitment reports or dashboards with drilldown by position, classification, department, and recruiter, including: (1) Time-to-fill, (2) Time-in-stage, (3) Requisition aging, (4) Source of hire, (5) Candidate demographics by stage.
- 9.6.2. **Required** Ad hoc query builder with a user-friendly interface (no advanced technical skill required).
- 9.6.3. **Required** Export capabilities to Excel, PDF, and CSV formats.
- 9.6.4. **Required** Scheduled delivery of reports to designated users.
- 9.6.5. **Required** System-generated reports should not interrupt end-user application performance.
- 9.6.6. **Preferred** Native integration with Microsoft Power Bl.
- 9.6.7. **Preferred** Scheduled upload of reports to Microsoft SharePoint via PowerApps or similar functionality.

#### 9.7. Integration and Technical Requirements

- 9.7.1. **Required** Seamless data flow to Core HR upon hire, eliminating duplicate data entry.
- 9.7.2. **Required** Integration with job boards and third-party testing/interview platforms.
- 9.7.3. **Required** Support for API-based or flat file integration with background check providers.

- 9.7.4. **Required** Role-based access controls for all recruitment data and workflows, including read-only, reviewer, and editor permissions.
- 9.7.5. **Preferred** Integration with Microsoft Teams or Outlook for calendar syncing of interviews and panel coordination.

## 10. Onboarding System Requirements

The proposed HRIS must include a structured onboarding module that supports a fully paperless experience and ensures compliance with federal and agency-specific onboarding requirements. The onboarding process must be configurable by job type and support both operational and professional employees, including those hired in large volumes and across multiple locations. The onboarding module should streamline administrative setup while also orienting new hires to the agency's values, policies, and culture.

## 10.1. Onboarding Experience

- 10.1.1. **Required** New hires must be able to access the onboarding system prior to their first day of work.
- 10.1.2. **Required** New hire tasks must be configurable based on employee type, department, and location.
- 10.1.3. **Required** Onboarding portal must be mobile accessible and customizable with agency logo, colors, and welcome content.
- 10.1.4. **Required** Onboarding process must include a step-by-step "checklist" experience for the new hire, including progress indicators.
- 10.1.5. **Required** System must support future-dated onboarding workflows based on hire date.
- 10.1.6. **Preferred** System should allow new hires to return and edit information prior to start date.
- 10.1.7. **Preferred** Onboarding experience can include welcome videos and links to agency resources.
- 10.1.8. **Preferred** Supervisors can customize welcome messages or tasks for their new hires.
- 10.1.9. **Preferred** Ability to assign onboarding "buddies" or mentors within the system.

- 10.1.10. **Preferred** Departmental tasks (e.g., facilities setup) can be triggered by start date or status.
- 10.1.11. **Preferred** Ability to provide accessible training materials (e.g., captions on videos, screen reader compatibility).
- 10.1.12. **Preferred** Ability to offer an onboarding survey upon completion for feedback and future enhancements.
- 10.1.13. **Preferred** Ability to offer 30-60-90 day survey to track the progress and acclimation of the new hires in their new positions.

## 10.2. Electronic Forms and Compliance

- 10.2.1. **Required** New hires must be able to complete and electronically sign W-4, NC-4/NC-4EZ, I-9, direct deposit, emergency contact, and other related forms. Electronic signature and data storage processes must be compliant with applicable federal and state requirements.
- 10.2.2. **Required** System must support secure upload of identity documents and E-Verify integration.
- 10.2.3. **Required** Ability to lock down records or flag incomplete onboarding items that must be resolved before hire is finalized (e.g., missing I-9).
- 10.2.4. **Required** I-9 forms must be retained in accordance with federal regulations, associated with the employee record, and able to be bulk-exported when needed for audit purposes.
- 10.2.5. **Required** Portal design must be accessible (WCAG 2.1 AA minimum).
- 10.2.6. **Preferred** Legal or compliance disclaimers can be versioned and attached to onboarding acknowledgments for audit trails.
- 10.2.7. **Preferred** System generates alerts for time-sensitive compliance (e.g., I-9 within 3 days, benefit elections within 30 days).
- 10.2.8. **Preferred** System automatically utilizes latest approved federal and state forms (e.g. I-9).
- 10.2.9. **Preferred** HR should be able to upload agency-specific forms and configure completion rules and signature fields without vendor intervention.

- 10.2.10. **Preferred** System can trigger compliance training assignments, policy acknowledgments, and other HR-configurable tasks as part of onboarding.
- 10.2.11. **Preferred** HR can assign different document sets based on classification (e.g., safety-sensitive roles).
- 10.2.12. **Preferred** Support for onboarding content and forms in multiple languages to accommodate Limited English Proficiency (LEP) applicants.

## 10.3. Onboarding Task Management

- 10.3.1. **Required** System must support automated task assignment to new hires, HR staff, supervisors, and other departments (e.g., IT, facilities).
- 10.3.2. **Required** Tasks can include due dates, reminders, dependencies, and documentation upload.
- 10.3.3. **Required** HR administrators can monitor onboarding status by hire, job type, department, and start date.
- 10.3.4. **Required** Supervisors must be notified of their new hire's progress and any incomplete items.
- 10.3.5. **Preferred** HR should be able to configure onboarding journeys by job family or role (e.g., operator vs. office vs. executive).
- 10.3.6. **Preferred** System allows for templated onboarding paths that can be updated and reused across recruitment cycles.
- 10.3.7. **Preferred** System includes onboarding dashboards and alerts for overdue or at-risk items.
- 10.3.8. **Preferred** Ability to create onboarding task templates for repeatable use by role or department.

# 10.4. Benefits, IT, and Operational Coordination

- 10.4.1. Required Onboarding data (e.g., emergency contacts, I-9, direct deposit) must automatically transfer to Core HR, Payroll, and Benefits without reentry.
- 10.4.2. **Required** System must support benefit plan selection or enrollment tasks during onboarding if applicable.

- 10.4.3. **Required** System must notify stakeholders (e.g., payroll, IT, safety) of required setup steps for new hires.
- 10.4.4. **Preferred** System supports checklists for pre-hire equipment setup (e.g., badge, mobile device, email account, uniforms).
- 10.4.5. **Preferred** HR can track which departments have completed their onboarding responsibilities.

## 10.5. Post-Onboarding Engagement

- 10.5.1. **Required** System supports scheduled "check-in" surveys or tasks at defined intervals (e.g., 30/60/90 days).
- 10.5.2. **Required** Check-ins and feedback can be routed to HR and/or supervisors with notification options.
- 10.5.3. **Preferred** System can track completion of onboarding goals and collect feedback on the new hire experience.
- 10.5.4. **Preferred** Check-ins may be configured differently for different job types or levels.
- 10.5.5. **Preferred** Onboarding milestones can feed into performance management (e.g., probationary period start date triggers performance review.
- 10.5.6. **Preferred** Anonymous feedback tools or surveys integrated with onboarding to gather insights from new hires.

# 10.6. Reporting, Analytics, and Compliance

- 10.6.1. **Required** Standard reports or dashboards for onboarding progress by department, job type, and individual.
- 10.6.2. **Required** Ad hoc query builder with a user-friendly interface (no advanced technical skill required).
- 10.6.3. **Required** Export capabilities to Excel, PDF, and CSV formats.
- 10.6.4. **Required** Scheduled delivery of reports to designated users.
- 10.6.5. **Required** System-generated reports should not interrupt end-user application performance.

- 10.6.6. **Preferred** Native integration with Microsoft Power Bl.
- 10.6.7. **Preferred** Scheduled upload of reports to Microsoft SharePoint via PowerApps or similar functionality.

## 10.7. Integration and Technical Requirements

10.7.1. **Required** – Seamless data flow from Applicant Tracking System, eliminating duplicate data entry.

## 11. Performance Management System Requirements

The proposed HRIS must include a Performance Management module that supports probationary reviews, annual evaluations, goal-setting, and performance improvement processes. The system must accommodate a wide range of roles from frontline operations to executive leadership and support agency-wide consistency while allowing for departmental flexibility. The performance module should promote employee development, provide clear documentation, and ensure timely, compliant evaluations.

## 11.1. Review Cycles and Configuration

- 11.1.1. **Required** System must support multiple types of review cycles, including: (1) Probationary reviews (e.g., 6 months, 12 months), (2) Annual performance evaluations, (3) Interim or ad hoc reviews, (4) Performance Improvement Plans (PIPs).
- 11.1.2. **Required** Review schedules and templates must be configurable by employee type, department, or classification.
- 11.1.3. **Required** System must support annual review cycles by latest hire date position start date by employee, or a uniform date (e.g., end of fiscal year) for all employees or groups of employees.
- 11.1.4. **Required** HR must be able to modify review templates and workflows without vendor intervention.
- 11.1.5. **Required** Support for effective-dated cycles with automated reminders to employees and supervisors.
- 11.1.6. **Preferred** Ability to configure weighted scoring by category (e.g., goals = 50%, core competencies = 30%, attendance = 20%).

#### 11.2. Goals, Competencies, and Feedback

- 11.2.1. **Required** System must support individual and team goal setting with target dates, status tracking, and updates.
- 11.2.2. **Required** Goals can be linked to agency strategic objectives or departmental initiatives.
- 11.2.3. **Required** Core competencies can be assigned by role or job classification (e.g., customer service, safety, communication).
- 11.2.4. **Required** Supervisors and employees can add comments and journal entries throughout the review period.
- 11.2.5. **Preferred** Employees can propose their own goals for supervisor approval.
- 11.2.6. **Preferred** Integration with LMS (Section 12) to suggest development activities based on competency gaps.
- 11.2.7. **Preferred** Ability to track progress with strategic goals and performance set at the beginning of the evaluation period. Ties back to the integrated LMS component or system.

#### 11.3. Review Process and Collaboration

- 11.3.1. **Required** Employees must have access to participate in the review process (e.g., self-evaluation, acknowledgement, comments).
- 11.3.2. **Required** Supervisors must be able to draft, submit, and revise evaluations with support for HR oversight.
- 11.3.3. **Required** Review workflows must include configurable approvers (e.g., second-level manager, HR).
- 11.3.4. **Required** Finalized reviews must be stored in the employee's personnel record and be exportable.
- 11.3.5. **Required** Supervisors receive alerts when team members have upcoming and/or overdue reviews.
- 11.3.6. **Preferred** System supports multiple reviewer or 360° review functionality (optional, by job type or leadership tier).

- 11.3.7. **Preferred** Supervisors and Employees can view historical performance documentation (e.g., previous evaluations, past PIPs) while completing new reviews.
- 11.3.8. **Preferred** System can create follow-up tasks or development goals based on review outcomes (e.g., assign training, coaching check-ins).
- 11.3.9. **Preferred** System can track and report post-review actions (e.g., goal revisions, LMS assignments) and completion rates.

#### 11.4. Performance Improvement and Documentation

- 11.4.1. **Required** HR and supervisors must be able to initiate and track Performance Improvement Plans (PIPs).
- 11.4.2. **Required** PIPs must include target behaviors, due dates, documentation uploads, and follow-up checkpoints.
- 11.4.3. **Required** System should log all coaching and disciplinary conversations tied to performance for future reference.

## 11.5. Reporting, Analytics, and Compliance

- 11.5.1. **Required** System must support historical performance tracking for individuals, including ratings, comments, and changes over time.
- 11.5.2. Required Standard performance reporting or dashboards must include:(1) Review completion rates, (2) Rating distributions, (3) Timeliness by department, supervisor, and employee demographic categories.
- 11.5.3. **Required** Ad hoc query builder with a user-friendly interface (no advanced technical skill required).
- 11.5.4. **Required** Export capabilities to Excel, PDF, and CSV formats.
- 11.5.5. **Required** Scheduled delivery of reports to designated users.
- 11.5.6. **Required** System-generated reports should not interrupt end-user application performance.
- 11.5.7. **Preferred** Native integration with Microsoft Power Bl.
- 11.5.8. **Preferred** Scheduled upload of reports to Microsoft SharePoint via PowerApps or similar functionality.

11.5.9. **Preferred** – Employees can access a personal dashboard showing their historical reviews, goals, and performance trends.

## 11.6. Integration and Technical Requirements

- 11.6.1. **Required** Must be integrated with Core HR centralized employee database, organizational structure, employee and manager self-service (Section **Error! Reference source not found.**).
- 11.6.2. **Preferred** Performance scores can push to compensation and salary administration (Section 5.4).
- 11.6.3. **Preferred** Support for assignment and tracking of coursework in the LMS (Section 12).

## 12. Learning Management System (LMS) Requirements (Preferred)

The proposed HRIS should include or integrate with a Learning Management System (LMS) that enables HR and department leaders to assign, track, and report on employee training and certification. If included, the LMS must support both mandatory and optional training, accommodate different learning formats (e.g., SCORM modules, videos, in-person sessions), and provide dashboards for compliance tracking and employee development. The system must be accessible via mobile and desktop and support integration with employee records and performance management.

Inclusion of LMS functionality is optional at the discretion of each proposer. As such, all items listed in this section are preferred but not required.

## 12.1. Training Assignment and Tracking

- 12.1.1. System should support assignment of required training by job classification, department, hire date, or compliance group.
- 12.1.2. Ability to assign training during onboarding, probationary period, performance improvement plan, or as a condition of promotion.
- 12.1.3. Training completion status must be visible to employees, managers, and HR.
- 12.1.4. Ability to track progress, send reminders, and trigger follow-ups for overdue training.
- 12.1.5. System should support recurring training with automated re-enrollment (e.g., annual safety or harassment prevention).

12.1.6. HR can assign training to individuals or ad hoc groups (e.g., new supervisors, return-to-work staff).

## 12.2. Content Support and Delivery

- 12.2.1. System should support multiple training formats, including: (1) SCORM 1.2 and 2004-compliant eLearning modules, (2) Embedded videos and slide presentations, (3) In-person instructor-led sessions with attendance tracking, (4) External certifications and uploaded completion records.
- 12.2.2. Employees should be able to launch and complete online training from a web browser or mobile device.
- 12.2.3. System should allow HR to upload and publish agency-created content.
- 12.2.4. Supports integration with third-party content providers (e.g., LinkedIn Learning, Skillsoft).
- 12.2.5. Employees can browse and self-enroll in optional learning opportunities.

## 12.3. Certifications and Licensing

- 12.3.1. System should track certifications and licenses by type, employee, and expiration date.
- 12.3.2. Ability to assign training or recertification tasks automatically based on expiration date or compliance cycles.
- 12.3.3. Dashboards and alerts for upcoming or overdue renewals.
- 12.3.4. Integration with document management module for storing uploaded certificates or license files.

#### 12.4. Manager and Supervisor Functionality

- 12.4.1. Managers should be able to: (1) View team training status, (2) Receive alerts for overdue or incomplete assignments, (3) Recommend or assign optional courses, (4) Approve training requests (if enabled).
- 12.4.2. Managers can view training history as part of performance evaluation or development planning.

## 12.5. Integration and System Management

- 12.5.1. System should integrate with Core HR to reflect organizational hierarchy and employee status.
- 12.5.2. Training data must be accessible within the performance management module for reference in evaluations or development plans.
- 12.5.3. Support for role-based access to manage content, assign training, and run reports.
- 12.5.4. Supports single sign-on (SSO) and mobile app compatibility for training access in the field.

#### 12.6. Reporting and Compliance

- 12.6.1. Standard LMS reports should include: (1) Training completion by course, department, and individual, (2) Training overdue by employee or group, (3) Certifications due to expire, (4) Hours of training completed (by category, employee, etc.)
- 12.6.2. Ad hoc query builder with a user-friendly interface (no advanced technical skill required).
- 12.6.3. Ability to schedule report delivery to supervisors, department heads, and compliance officers.
- 12.6.4. Reports can be exported to Excel, PDF, and CSV formats and integrated with Power BI dashboards.
- 12.6.5. System includes audit trail of training assignments, completions, and content changes.

# 13. Employee Engagement (Preferred)

The proposed HRIS should include or integrate with tools that support employee engagement, including mechanisms for gathering employee feedback, measuring engagement trends, and supporting continuous improvement in organizational culture. If included, the system must offer self-service and administrative features that enable HR and leadership to monitor workforce sentiment and respond to engagement challenges in a timely and data-driven manner.

Inclusion of this functionality is optional at the discretion of each proposer. As such, all items listed in this section are preferred but not required.

## 13.1. Surveys and Feedback Tools

- 13.1.1. System supports configurable employee surveys that can be deployed agency-wide or to targeted groups (e.g., new hires, departments, tenure brackets).
- 13.1.2. System allows anonymous responses with controls for response anonymity thresholds.
- 13.1.3. Survey results are exportable and viewable via dashboards or reports segmented by department, role, or other demographics.
- 13.1.4. HR should be able to configure surveys without vendor support and schedule recurring surveys (e.g., annual engagement, onboarding checkins, exit interviews).
- 13.1.5. System includes a library of prebuilt survey templates (e.g., engagement, pulse checks, onboarding, exit).
- 13.1.6. Employees can submit suggestions or feedback year-round through a confidential self-service feature.

## 13.2. Onboarding, Retention, and Exit Check-Ins

- 13.2.1. System should support scheduled check-ins at key lifecycle stages (e.g., 30/60/90 days, 6-month mark, 1-year anniversary).
- 13.2.2. System supports tracking and analysis of onboarding experience, reasons for stay, and barriers to engagement.
- 13.2.3. Exit interview workflows are built in, with templates and configurable fields to track reasons for separation and improvement opportunities.
- 13.2.4. HR can tag and analyze trends in departure data (e.g., pay dissatisfaction, lack of development, workplace culture).

## 13.3. Reporting and Insights

- 13.3.1. Survey results and engagement metrics are viewable by HR via dashboards, and filterable by demographics, job class, and department.
- 13.3.2. System supports export of engagement data for external reporting or integration with data analytics tools.

- 13.3.3. System includes sentiment analysis and trend identification across survey responses or open-text feedback.
- 13.3.4. Managers can access limited engagement metrics for their teams to support local action planning.

## 13.4. Integration with Broader HR Strategy

- 13.4.1. Engagement data can be linked to other HRIS modules, such as onboarding (e.g., new hire survey completion), performance (e.g., development feedback loops), and retention analytics (e.g., turnover correlations).
- 13.4.2. HR can track response rates, engagement scores, and follow-up actions for organizational accountability.
- 13.4.3. System supports optional integration with communication tools (e.g., Teams, email) to deliver engagement content.

#### **Terms and Conditions**

#### 1. Services

Contractor agrees to perform the services outlined in the contract (hereinafter "Services"). Contractor hereby represents and warrants that it has the experience, capability and resources, including but not limited to sufficient personnel and supervisors, to efficiently and expeditiously perform the Services to be provided hereunder with the highest professional standards, and Contractor further represents and warrants that it will at all times devote the necessary personnel and supervisors to perform the Services hereunder in such a manner. Contractor warrants and represents that prior to submitting a proposal for any Services, Contractor will examine all of the specifications, directions and conditions relating to the Services, investigate the scope of the project and the difficulties which may be encountered in performing the Services, and hereby assumes full and complete responsibility for, and risk in connection with, said Services.

#### 2. Contract Term

The term of the resultant contract shall commence on the date of contract execution, and shall continue for a period of **four (4) years**, unless canceled, terminated, or permissibly extended. GoTriangle may at its discretion extend the initial Contract term for up to three additional two (2) year periods, for a maximum aggregate term of ten (10) years.

# 3. Invoicing and Compensation

- 3.1. GoTriangle agrees to pay the Contractor, and the Contractor agrees to accept payment, for services rendered under the resulting contract in accordance with the mutually agreed-upon project milestones. Payment for each milestone shall be due within thirty (30) days following (i) the Contractor's submission of a valid invoice for the completed milestone, and (ii) written approval of milestone completion by the designated end user or authorized representative of GoTriangle.
- 3.2. Contractor shall submit an original invoice in a form satisfactory to GoTriangle and shall reference this Contract Number **25-024.** Invoices shall be submitted in an electronic form to the following address: <a href="mailto:invoice@gotriangle.org">invoice@gotriangle.org</a>.
- 3.3. GoTriangle hereby requires and Contractor agrees that Contractor will submit with the final invoice, a waiver of lien and all applicable Subcontractor's and Materialman's release and waivers of lien, in form and substance acceptable to

GoTriangle, at the conclusion of Services performed and receipt by Contractor of a Notice of Acceptance from GoTriangle. Contractor shall also furnish all permits, licenses, certificates of approval from all governing inspection authorities including, as applicable, certificates of occupancy and inspection, applicable warranties, manufacturer's assigned guarantees and authorizations in the possession of Contractor. Additional completion documents may be required by GoTriangle's Contracts and Grants Coordinator.

- 3.4. GoTriangle will forward payments of Contractor's invoices to the "remit to" address on the invoice which has been approved for payment.
- 3.5. GoTriangle may withhold full or partial payment of any invoice as GoTriangle deems necessary due to:
  - 3.5.1. Non-satisfaction of Services that are not remedied;
  - 3.5.2. Third-party claims filed or information in possession of GoTriangle reasonably indicating probable filing of such claims;
  - 3.5.3. Damage to GoTriangle or another party for which Contractor is partially or wholly responsible;
  - 3.5.4. Persistent failure to carry out the Services in accordance with this Agreement.
- 3.6. In the event any full or partial payment is withheld, full payment shall be made when the offending condition is cured.

## 4. Changes in the Services

- 4.1. Only a Contract Amendment signed by duly authorized representatives of both parties, can modify the Contract, as long as it does not change the Contract's general scope. Purported changes to the Contract by an unauthorized person or made unilaterally by the Contractor will be void and without effect; Contractor will not be entitled to any claim made under the Contract based on any such purported changes.
- 4.2. No Change Order shall be issued where:

- 4.2.1. The change was necessitated in whole or in part by Contractor's failure to comply with a requirement of this Contract;
- 4.2.2. Contractor's work would have been affected by any other cause that would not be considered an alteration in, addition to, or deduction from the Services requested by the GoTriangle;
- 4.2.3. Contractor proceeds with any Services without giving notices as required under the Contract; or
- 4.2.4. The changes are required to correct deficient Services, to achieve compliance with the requirements set forth in this Contract, or due to Services which do not conform with good industry practices, or is otherwise faulty or defective.

## 5. Services on GoTriangle's Premises

- 5.1. Contractor understands and agrees that it is solely responsible for ensuring that its personnel will perform the Services called for hereunder in a safe manner and in accordance with all applicable safety laws and regulations, including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act and its implementing regulations. Contractor further agrees that it will ensure all of its personnel performing Services on GoTriangle's premises will observe all applicable GoTriangle safety rules and standards. Contractor also agrees that it is required to discharge any duty or responsibility of Contractor to its personnel or other persons. Contractor will provide all necessary training and supervision to ensure compliance with all requirements of this Section.
- 5.2. The Services of Contractor should be done in such a manner that the Services do not interfere with the continuous operation of GoTriangle's business or the work of other contractors. In the event that the Services performed hereunder may conflict in any way with such continuous operation or the work of other contractors, agreement will be reached with GoTriangle as to the sequence to be followed in performing the Services.
- 5.3. Personnel required to work on the GoTriangle's property must obtain a GoTriangle's vendors' badge. Contractor must advise its affected Personnel that, to obtain a vendor's badge and to access GoTriangle's confidential information, the Contractor will perform a background check.

- 5.4. As a pre-requisite for a GoTriangle-issued identification and access to confidential information, the Contractor shall have the sole responsibility for, and shall assure, adequate criminal background screenings on a routine basis of all of its personnel who are or will be working on GoTriangle's premises, or otherwise have access to GoTriangle's customers, property, or confidential information.
- 5.5. Contractor shall implement, no later than receipt of the Notice to Proceed, a criminal background screening of the Contractor's personnel and shall take into consideration:
  - 5.5.1. The nature of the services or work being performed under the contract with particular regard for the individual's access to, and interaction with, (1) GoTriangle's customers, property, and confidential information; (2) the nature or gravity of the offense or conduct resulting in a criminal conviction; and (3) the time that has lapsed since the conviction and/or completion of the sentence.
  - 5.5.2. The Contractor shall contract with, or otherwise engage, an accredited third-party vendor to conduct the required criminal background screenings and shall provide the vendor with a copy of its criminal background check screening policies and procedures.
  - 5.5.3. The Contractor shall not place any person on or engage any person under this Contract, unless that person passes the Contractor's criminal background screening. At the end of each calendar quarter, the Contractor shall certify its compliance with this criminal background screening requirement and confirm that all persons required to be screened have passed the contractor's criminal background screening before working on this Contract. For the sole purpose of monitoring the Contractor's compliance, GoTriangle reserves the right to request additional documents or perform its own criminal background screening of Contractor's personnel. The Contracting Officer will inform the Contractor, in writing, of any proposed action within a reasonable time before such action is taken.
- 5.6. The Contractor shall indemnify and hold GoTriangle harmless from any and all alleged claims, demands, damages, costs and expenses, including attorneys' fees and other costs and expenses arising out of or resulting from the Contractor's criminal background screening obligations and processes.

5.7. The Contractor will include this requirement in all subcontracts under this Contract and receive certifications from their subcontractors to ensure that its subcontractors' personnel who are or will be working on GoTriangle's premises (whether they receive a badge or not) or otherwise have access to GoTriangle's customers, property, or confidential information undergo the required criminal background checks.

#### 6. Conflict of Interest

GoTriangle has adopted a Code of Ethics that establishes standards of conduct for GoTriangle officials and employees. No director, officer or employee of GoTriangle shall have, during their tenure, any interest, direct or indirect, in Contractor, its subcontractors, this Agreement or the proceeds thereof. Contractor shall not, directly or indirectly, offer to the aforementioned individuals, nor shall such individuals accept from Contractor, gifts, gratuities, favors, or anything of monetary value.

#### 7. Contract Termination

#### 7.1. Termination for Convenience

- 7.1.1. GoTriangle may terminate the Contract for the convenience of GoTriangle as follows:
  - a. By giving Contractor thirty (30) calendar days prior written notice of such termination.
  - b. Immediately, by written notice to Contractor, by reason of bankruptcy or insolvency of Contractor, or the filing of any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, or similar action or proceeding by or against Contractor, or any assignment by Contractor for the benefit of its creditors, or any other acts or omission by Contractor reflecting or manifesting bankruptcy or financial insolvency.
- 7.1.2. Upon receipt of a written notice of termination for any of the above conditions Contractor shall:
  - a. Immediately discontinue all Services affected (unless the notice directs otherwise),

- b. Deliver to and transfer title to the GoTriangle Contracting Officer all data, drawings, specifications, reports, estimates, and summaries, and other such information and materials as may have been accumulated by Contractor in performing the Services under this Agreement, whether completed or in process, and
- c. Place no further subcontracts or orders for materials, services, facilities, or otherwise, except as necessary to complete the remaining portion of the contract.
- 7.1.3. GoTriangle may at any time, by written notice to Contractor, require Contractor to stop all, or any part, of the Services for a period herein specified in the Stop Work Order, not to exceed ninety (90) calendar days after the Stop Work Order is delivered to Contractor, and for such further period to which the parties may agree in writing. Upon receipt of the Stop Work Order, Contractor shall immediately stop performing the Services covered by the Stop Work Order and take all reasonable steps to minimize the incurring of costs allocated to the portion of the Services covered by such Stop Work Order. Within the period, GoTriangle will deliver to Contractor either (i) a notice that the Stop Work Order is canceled, and authorization for the Services to re-commence or (ii) a notice of termination of the Agreement for convenience or default.
- 7.1.4. Notwithstanding any other provisions to the contrary, including without limitation the provisions of the Agreement relating to compensation, this paragraph shall control with respect to payments upon termination, in lieu of any other provisions set forth. Upon termination of the Agreement for convenience, GoTriangle shall pay for Services performed according to those amounts listed in the provisions of the Agreement relating to compensation, based upon the Services performed by Contractor through the date of termination.

#### 7.2. Termination For Default

7.2.1. The Contractor shall be in default if it breaches any of its obligations under this Contract deemed material by the Contracting Officer. In addition to those instances specifically referred to in this Contract, the Contractor shall be in default in the following circumstances:

- It fails to begin, or abandons, the work of the Contract in accordance with Contractual requirements;
- It fails to deliver the Product or perform the Services within the time specified in the Contract or any extension approved by the Contracting Officer;
- c. It fails to make progress in a manner deemed reasonable by the Contracting Officer so as to endanger performance of the Contract; or
- d. In the view of the Contracting Officer, the Contractor is willfully violating the Contract or is not executing it reasonably and in good faith.
- 7.2.2. In the event of a default or breach, GoTriangle will provide a written notice to the Contractor, specifying the nature of the breach and stating that, the Contractor has ten (10) days (or such additional time as the Contracting Officer authorizes, to cure the breach ("Notice to Cure"). If the Contractor fails to cure the breach in the time specified in the Notice to Cure, GoTriangle may terminate the Contract, in whole or designated part, for default in accordance with the provisions of this Contract, by a written "Notice of Default" to the Contractor.
- 7.2.3. Upon receipt of a "Notice of Default," the Contractor shall immediately cease performance of the work so terminated. GoTriangle shall have the right to take any action necessary to complete the work, including performing the work itself, or contracting with another party to do so. In the event the work is completed directly by GoTriangle or by a third party, the Contractor shall be liable for the additional costs and expenses necessary to complete the work, including, without limitation, labor, material costs, development costs, tooling expenses, equipment costs, software costs, and property costs. The Authority may deduct the costs and expenses so charged from any monies otherwise payable to the Contractor. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to relieve the Contractor of its continuing obligation to perform any portion of the Contract that was not terminated.
- 7.2.4. GoTriangle may, in its sole discretion, waive a default by the Contractor, but such waiver shall not be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default.

- 7.2.5. Upon any termination for default, GoTriangle may require the Contractor to transfer title and deliver to GoTriangle:
  - any completed or partially completed Services, Products or other work or deliverables, and
  - b. components (including data and intellectual property) and contract rights that the Contractor has specifically produced or acquired for the terminated portion of this Contract. Upon direction of the Contracting Officer, the Contractor shall also protect and preserve property in its possession in which the Authority may have an interest.
- 7.2.6. Upon any termination for default, GoTriangle shall only pay for Products or Services accepted in accordance with this Contract. GoTriangle may also compensate the Contractor for any actions it reasonably takes at the Contracting Officer's direction, for the protection and preservation of property. GoTriangle may withhold from these amounts, any sum that the Contracting Officer determines to be necessary to protect GoTriangle against loss because of outstanding or claimed liens, or pending or anticipated claims under the Contract.
- 7.2.7. The rights and remedies of GoTriangle in this clause are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided under this Contract, at law, or in equity.

#### 8. Transition Assistance

If the Contract is not renewed at the end of the term, or is canceled prior to its expiration, for any reason, the Contractor must provide for up to six (6) months after the expiration or cancellation of the Contract, all reasonable transition assistance requested by GoTriangle, to allow for the expired or canceled portion of the Services to continue without interruption or adverse effect, and to facilitate the orderly transfer of such Services to GoTriangle or its designees. Such transition assistance will be deemed by the parties to be governed by the terms and conditions of the Contract, (notwithstanding the expiration or cancellation) except for those Contract terms or conditions that do not reasonably apply to such transition assistance. GoTriangle shall pay the Contractor for any resources utilized in performing such transition assistance at the most current Contract rates for Contractor performance. If GoTriangle cancels the Contract for default, then GoTriangle will be entitled to offset the cost of paying the Contractor for the additional resources the Contractor

utilized in providing transition assistance with any damages GoTriangle may have otherwise accrued as a result of said cancellation.

#### 9. Indemnification and Hold Harmless

To the fullest extent allowed by law and as applicable to N.C.G.S. Section 22B-1, Contractor hereby assumes the risk of and covenants to indemnify GoTriangle, its directors, trustees, officers, employees, affiliates, stakeholders, and agents (hereinafter referred to as "Indemnitees") against, and hold them harmless from all alleged losses, damages, liabilities, costs, and expenses, including without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees, (i) Contractor's failure to meet any of its obligations under this Contract, including but not limited to Contractor's obligations to safeguard protected and/or confidential infromation from security incidents; (ii) arising out of alleged injury to or death of any person, sickness or disease to any person(s), (iii) arising out of alleged damages to any property, real or personal, tangible or intangible, iv) or any alleged economic loss resulting from the alleged negligence or wrongful act or any error or omission by Contractor, its subcontractors, its agents or persons performing Services, or breach by Contractor, its subcontractors, its agents or persons performing Services, of any provision of the Agreement, in the performance of the Services thereunder.

- 9.1. In addition to the indemnity provisions set forth elsewhere in this Agreement and not in limitation thereof, Contractor agrees to indemnify and hold the Indemnitees harmless from any and all alleged claims, losses, judgments, or causes of action by Contractor's employees, independent contractors, or their representatives for personal injury or death arising out of, during, or from performance of the Services caused by any act or omission of Contractor. This provision is entered into pursuant to North Carolina General Statute Section 97-10.2(e).
- 9.2. Contractor understands and agrees that it is Contractor's responsibility to provide indemnification to GoTriangle pursuant to this Section. Insurance, while anticipated to provide a funding source for indemnification, is in addition to any indemnification requirements. The failure of the Contractor's insurance to fully fund any indemnification shall not relieve the Contractor of any obligation under the indemnification clauses set out within this Agreement.
- 9.3. In performing its duties under this requirement, Contractor shall, at its sole expense, defend GoTriangle with legal counsel reasonably acceptable to GoTriangle. GoTriangle shall nevertheless have the right at its expense to participate in the defense of such Charges. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, under no

circumstances shall Contractor compromise or settle any such Charges without the prior written consent and approval of GoTriangle, after full disclosure by Contractor. Section 10 shall survive expiration or termination of this Agreement.

## 10. Dispute Resolution

Disputes concerning a question of fact or law arising in the performance of the Agreement, which are not resolved by agreement of the parties to the Agreement, shall be decided in writing by the authorized representative of GoTriangle. This decision shall be final and conclusive unless within ten (10) calendar days from the date of receipt of its copy, Contractor mails or otherwise furnishes a written appeal to the authorized representative of GoTriangle. In connection with any such appeal, Contractor shall be afforded an opportunity to be heard and to offer evidence in support of its position to GoTriangle.

The decision of the authorized representative of GoTriangle rendered at the conclusion of any such appeal shall be final and conclusive as to questions of fact unless determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to have been fraudulent, capricious, arbitrary, or so grossly erroneous as necessarily to imply bad faith. The decision of GoTriangle or its duly authorized representative shall not be final and conclusive as to questions of law. No action challenging such decision shall be brought more than six months from the date of Contractor's receipt of such decision.

- 10.1. If it is determined, on appeal, that GoTriangle's interpretation of the Agreement, direction to Contractor, or any other action required by GoTriangle's decision was an erroneous determination of the rights and obligations of the parties under the Agreement, Contractor's remedy shall be the same as if such action were a change under Section 4 Changes in the Services above.
- 10.2. Unless otherwise directed by GoTriangle, Contractor shall continue performance under the Agreement while matters in dispute are being resolved. Nothing in this section shall preclude alternative dispute resolution.
- 10.3. By submission of a proposal or offer in response to GoTriangle's solicitation, Contractor agreed to exhaust its administrative remedies under this Section 11 prior to seeking judicial relief of any type in connection with any matter related to the solicitation, the award of any contract, and any dispute under any resulting contract.

#### 11. Permits

Contractor will obtain and pay for all permits, licenses and government fees necessary for the performance of the Services or Products to be provided under the terms and conditions of this Agreement unless otherwise instructed in writing by GoTriangle. Contractor will obtain all required inspections, authorizations and approvals required for the performance of Services.

#### 12. Choice of Law / Forum

This Agreement shall be deemed made in and shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina. All litigation arising out of the Agreement shall be commenced in courts sitting in Durham County, North Carolina. If an action is instituted in federal court, such action shall be brought in the United States District Court of the Eastern Middle District of North Carolina.

#### 13. Insurance

Contractor shall carry insurance as specified in the contract Attachment C. Contractor shall provide GoTriangle with a valid Certificate of Insurance prior to beginning any work pursuant to the resultant contract.

#### 14. Independent Contractor

- 14.1. The parties acknowledge that Contractor is an independent contractor to GoTriangle. This Agreement is not to be construed as creating or constituting a joint venture, partnership, or agent/principal relationship between GoTriangle and Contractor. Contractor represents that it has, or will secure, at its own expense, all personnel required in performing the Services under this Agreement. Such personnel shall not be employees of, shall not be considered servants or agents or, nor have any contractual relationship with GoTriangle. Contractor, consistent with its status as an independent contractor, further agrees that its personnel will not hold themselves out as, nor claim to be, officers or employees of GoTriangle by reason of this Agreement. Contractor shall be responsible for all withholding and employer taxes with respect to such personnel to the complete exclusion of GoTriangle.
- 14.2. Contractor agrees to pay, and hereby accepts full and exclusive liability for the payment of, any and all contributions and taxes for Unemployment Compensation or Disability Insurance or Old Age Pension or Annuities now or hereafter imposed by any

Federal or state governmental authority which are imposed with respect to or measured by wages, salaries, or other compensation paid by Contractor to persons employed by Contractor; and Contractor further agrees to indemnify and save GoTriangle harmless against any and all such liability or claims therefor.

## 15. Accuracy of Financial Statements

Contractor agrees that all financial reports, settlements and billings to GoTriangle will properly reflect the facts about all activities and transactions handled for the account of GoTriangle, which data may be relied upon as being complete and accurate in any further recording and reporting made by GoTriangle for whatever purpose.

#### 16. Non-Discrimination

To the extent permitted by North Carolina and federal law, such as Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, section 303 of the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, section 202 of the Amercian with Disabilities Act of 1990, the parties for themselves, their agents, trustees, officials, directors, officers, members, representatives, employees, and contractors agree not to discriminate in any manner or in any form based on actual or perceived age, mental or physical disability, sex, religion, creed, race, color, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, familial or marital status, economic status, veteran status or national origin in connection with this Contract or its performance.

This section shall be binding on the successors and assigns of all parties with reference to the subject matter of the Contract.

# 17. Covenant Against Contingent Fees

Contractor warrants that no person or selling agency has been employed or retained to solicit or secure this Agreement upon an agreement or understanding for a commission, percentage, brokerage, or contingent fee, excepting bona fide employees or bona fide established commercial or selling agencies maintained by Contractor for the purpose of securing business. In the event of a breach or violation of this warranty, GoTriangle shall have the right to annul this Agreement without liability or, in its discretion, to deduct from the compensation set forth in this Agreement, or otherwise recover, the full amount of such commission, percentage, brokerage, or contingent fee.

## 18. Delegation and Assignment

Contractor may not delegate the performance of any obligation to a third party unless mutually agreed in writing by Contractor and the third party. And provided further, this Agreement and the obligations hereunder cannot be assigned, subcontracted or delegated by Contractor without the written consent of GoTriangle.

#### 19. Nonwaiver

No failure or waiver or successive failures or waivers on the part of either party, its successors or permitted assigns, in the enforcement of any condition, covenants, or article of this Agreement shall operate as a discharge of any such condition, covenant or article nor render the same invalid, nor impair the right of either party hereto, their successors or permitted assigns, to enforce the same in the event of any subsequent breaches by the other party hereto, its successors or permitted assigns.

## 20. Merger

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the parties, all prior discussions, representations and agreements being merged herein. The Agreement may not be amended except in writing signed by both parties to the Agreement. The captions in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not affect the substantive meaning of any provision herein.

#### 21. Reference

Contractor shall obtain permission from GoTriangle prior to use of GoTriangle's name as a reference, or in any of its promotional or reference material.

#### 22. Contractor's Personnel

GoTriangle reserves the right to request removal of any Contractor employee assigned to a project when, in the opinion of GoTriangle, the individual performance is unsatisfactory.

## 23. Certification on Israel Boycott

Contractor certifies that it has not been designated by the North Carolina State Treasurer as a company engaged in the boycott of Israel pursuant to N.C.G.S. 147-86.81.

#### 24. Notices

All official notices and communications under this Contract shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given (i) on the date of delivery, if delivered personally to the party to whom notice is given, or (ii) at the date of actual receipt if mailed by United States mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested. Notices and other communications shall be directed to the parties at the addresses listed below:

24.1.	Contra	actor:					

#### 24.2. GoTriangle:

GoTriangle
President and CEO
PO Box 13787 (mail)
Research Triangle Park, NC 27709

With copy to:

GoTriangle
General Counsel
PO Box 13787 (mail)
Research Triangle Park, NC 27709

Telephonic, email, and facsimile communications with GoTriangle may be used to expedite discussions; however, none shall be deemed official communications under this Agreement unless and until they are confirmed in writing in accordance with the requirements of this Section.

# 25. No Third-Party Rights

Except as expressly set forth herein, the representations, warranties, terms and provisions of this Contract are for the exclusive benefit of the parties hereto and no other person or entity shall have any right or claim against either party by reason of any of these terms and provisions or be entitled to enforce any of these terms and provisions against either party.

## 26. Severability

If any part, term or provision of this Contract is judicially determined to be illegal or in conflict with any applicable law, the validity of the remaining portions or provisions shall not be affected, and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be construed and enforced as if this Contract did not contain the particular part, term or provision held to be invalid or illegal.

#### 27. Survivorship

Any and all provisions, promises and warranties contained herein which by their nature or effect are required or intended to be observed, kept or performed after termination of this Contract will survive the termination of this Contract and remain binding upon and for the benefit of the parties hereto.

#### 28. Attachments

Any attachment or exhibit to this Contract will be incorporated into and made a part of this Contract. In the event of a conflict between the provisions contained in the body of this Contract and any attachment or exhibit, the terms in the body of this Agreement will control.

#### 29. Separate Counterparts

This Contractor may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which, when so executed, shall be deemed to be an original. Such counterparts shall together constitute and be one of the same instrument.

#### 30. Iran Divestment Act

Pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 147-86.59, any person identified as engaging in investment activities in Iran, determined by appearing on the Final Divestment List created by the State Treasurer pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 147-86.58, is ineligible to contract with the State of North Carolina or any political subdivision of the State. The Iran Divestment Act of 2015, N.C.G.S. § 147-86.55 et seq. requires that each vendor, prior to contracting with the State, certify that the contracting party meets the requirements of the Iran Divestment Act. The State Treasurer's Final Divestment List can be found on the State Treasurer's website at the address <a href="https://www.nctreasurer.com/Iran">www.nctreasurer.com/Iran</a> and will be up dated every 180 Days.

- 30.1. By execution of this Contract, Contractor certifies that neither he nor his agents, contractors, consultants, or subconsultants/contractors (i) are on the Final Divestment List of entities that the State Treasurer has determined engages in investment activities in Iran; (ii) shall not utilize on any contract with the State agency any subcontractor that is identified on the Final Divestment List; and (iii) that the undersigned are authorized by the parties to make this Certification.
- 30.2. During the term of this Contract, should Contractor receive information that a person is in violation of the Act as stated above, GoTriangle will offer the person an opportunity to respond and GoTriangle will take action as appropriate and provided for by law, rule, or contract. Should this Act be voided by NC General Statute, this Contract will remain valid; however this certification will no longer be required.

#### 31. E-Verify

The Contractor shall comply with the requirements of Article 2 of Chapter 64 of the North Carolina General Statutes (E-Verify). Failure of the Contractor to comply with this provision or failure of his sub-contractors to comply could render this order void under North Carolina Law.

## 32. Debarment Policy

It is the policy of GoTriangle not to enter into any agreement with parties that have been debarred by any government agency (Federal or State). By execution of this agreement, both parties certify that neither it nor its agents or contractors are presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible or voluntarily excluded from participating in this transaction.

# 33. Force Majeure

Neither party shall be deemed to be in default of its obligations hereunder if and so long as it is prevented from performing such obligations as a result of unforeseen events or circumstances that are beyond its reasonable control, including without limitation, fire, power failures, any act of war, hostile foreign action, nuclear explosion, riot, strikes or failures or refusals to perform under subcontracts, civil insurrection, earthquake, hurricane, tornado, epidemics, pandemics, embargoes, or other catastrophic natural event or act of God.

## 34. Operational Continuity

Operational Continuity Contractor warrants that it will perform without relief notwithstanding being sold or acquired; no such event will operate to mitigate or alter any of Contractor's duties hereunder absent a consented delegation under Section 19. Assignment and Delegation, that expressly recognizes the event.

## 35. Acceptance Process

- 35.1. GoTriangle shall have the obligation to notify Vendor, in writing ten (10) calendar days following provision, performance (under a provided milestone or otherwise as agreed) or delivery of any Services or other Deliverables described in the Contractor that are not acceptable.
- 35.2. Acceptance testing is required for all Contractor supplied software and software or platform services unless provided otherwise in the solicitation documents or a Statement of Work. GoTriangle may define such processes and procedures as may be necessary or proper, in its opinion and discretion, to ensure compliance with the GoTriangle's specifications, and Contractor's Product Warranties and technical representations. GoTriangle shall have the obligation to notify Contractor in writing and within thirty (30) days following installation of any software deliverable if it is not acceptable.
- 35.3. Acceptance of Services or other Deliverables including software or platform services may be controlled by an amendment hereto, or additional terms as agreed by the Parties.
- 35.4. The notice of non-acceptance shall specify in reasonable detail the reason(s) a Service or given Deliverable is unacceptable. Acceptance by GoTriangle shall not be unreasonably withheld; but may be conditioned or delayed as required for installation and/or testing of Deliverables. Final acceptance is expressly conditioned upon completion of any applicable inspection and testing procedures. Should a Service or Deliverable fail to meet any specifications or acceptance criteria, GoTriangle may exercise any and all rights hereunder. Services or Deliverables discovered to be defective or failing to conform to the specifications may be rejected upon initial inspection or at any later time if the defects or errors contained in the Services or Deliverables or non-compliance with the specifications were not reasonably ascertainable upon initial inspection. If the Vendor fails to promptly cure or correct the defect or replace or re-perform the Services or Deliverables, GoTriangle

reserves the right to cancel the Purchase Order, contract with a different Vendor, and to invoice the original Contractor for any differential in price over the original Contract price.

## 36. Patent, Copyright and Trade Secret Protection

- 36.1. The Contractor has created, acquired or otherwise has rights in, and may, in connection with the performance of Services for GoTriangle, employ, provide, create, acquire or otherwise obtain rights in various concepts, ideas, methods, methodologies, procedures, processes, know-how, techniques, models, templates and general-purpose consulting and software tools, utilities and routines (collectively, the "Contractor technology"). To the extent that any Contractor technology is contained in any of the Services or Deliverables including any derivative works, the Contractor hereby grants GoTriangle a royalty-free, fully paid, worldwide, perpetual, non-exclusive license to use such Contractor technology in connection with the Services or Deliverables for GoTriangle's purposes.
- 36.2. Contractor shall not acquire any right, title and interest in and to the copyrights for goods, any and all software, technical information, specifications, drawings, records, documentation, data or derivative works thereof, or other work products provided by GoTriangle to Contractor. GoTriangle hereby grants Contractor a royalty-free, fully paid, worldwide, perpetual, non-exclusive license for Contractor's internal use to non-confidential deliverables first originated and prepared by the Contractor for delivery to GoTriangle.
- 36.3. The Contractor shall indemnify GoTriangle and its trustees, stakeholders, officers, directors, agents and employees against alleged liability, including costs, for alleged infringement of any United States patent (except a patent issued upon an application that is now or may hereafter be withheld from issue pursuant to a Secrecy Order under 35 U.S.C. § 181) arising out of the manufacture or delivery of s software, the performance of services under this Contract. The Contractor shall indemnify GoTriangle and its trustees, stakeholders, officers, directors, agents and employees against alleged liability, including costs, for alleged infringement of any United States patent (except a patent issued upon an application that is now or may hereafter be withheld from issue pursuant to a Secrecy Order under 35 U.S.C. § 181) arising out of the manufacture or delivery of software, the performance of services under this Contract. If the Contractor is not the original equipment manufacturer for manufactured software purchased under this Contract, it will ensure that the patent holder provides indemnity to GoTriangle under this clause. This indemnification shall

not apply unless the Contractor is informed as soon as practicable by GoTriangle of the suit or action alleging such infringement and is given such opportunity as is afforded by applicable laws, rules, or regulations to participate in the defense thereof.

- 36.4. The Contractor, at its own expense, shall defend any action brought against GoTriangle to the extent that such action is based upon a claim that the Services or other Deliverables supplied by the Contractor, or the operation of such pursuant to a current version of Contractor-supplied software, infringes a patent, or copyright or violates a trade secret in the United States. The Contractor shall pay those costs and damages finally awarded against GoTriangle in any such action. Such defense and payment shall be conditioned on the following:
  - 36.4.1. That the Contractor shall be notified within 120 days of GoTriangle's knowledge of any such claim in writing by GoTriangle; and,
  - 36.4.2. That the Contractor shall have the sole control of the defense of any action on such claim and all negotiations for its settlement or compromise, provided, however, that GoTriangle shall have the option to participate in such action at its own expense.
- 36.5. Should any Services or other Deliverables supplied by Contractor, or the operation thereof become, or in the Contractor's opinion are likely to become, the subject of a claim of infringement of a patent, copyright, or a trade secret in the United States, GoTriangle shall permit the Contractor, at its sole option and expense, either to procure for GoTriangle the right to continue using the Services or Deliverables, or to replace or modify the same to become non-infringing and continue to meet procurement specifications in all material respects. If neither of these options can reasonably be taken, or if the use of such Services or Deliverables by GoTriangle shall be prevented by injunction, the Contractor agrees to take back any goods/hardware or software, and refund any sums GoTriangle has paid Contractor I and make every reasonable effort to assist GoTriangle in procuring substitute Services or Deliverables. If, in the sole opinion of GoTriangle, the return of such infringing Services or Deliverables makes the retention of other Services or Deliverables acquired from the Contractor under the agreement impractical, GoTriangle shall then have the option of terminating the contract, or applicable portions thereof, without penalty or termination charge. The Contractor agrees to take back Services or Deliverables and refund any sums GoTriangle has paid Contractor.

- 36.6. Contractor will not be required to defend or indemnify GoTriangle if any claim by a third party against GoTriangle for infringement or misappropriation results from GoTriangle's alteration of any Contractor-branded Service or Deliverable.
- 36.7. Nothing stated herein, however, shall affect Contractor's ownership in or rights to its preexisting intellectual property and proprietary rights.

## 37. Service Organization Report Requirement

Based upon the products and/or services to be provided under this Standard Agreement with GoTriangle, Contractor has been preliminarily identified as a "Service Organization." As such, Contractor agrees to obtain annual Statement of Standards on Attestation Engagements No. 18 (SSAE 18) Service Organization Control (SOC) 2 – Type 2 reports for the duration of this contract.

The SOC 2 – Type 2 reports must address the trust service categories of Security, Availability, Processing Integrity, and Confidentiality for the products or services contracted hereunder.

Contractor agrees to provide these reports annually to GoTriangle. Should any such SOC report not cover the contract period, Contractor shall obtain and provide a bridge letter from Contractor's Service Auditor (the firm preparing the SOC report) to cover the additional time period.

All such reports and related bridge letters shall be sent via secure email transmission GoTriangle's Chief Information Officer, Provider's SOC reports and bridge letters may be used by GoTriangle to ensure adequate controls are in place around GoTriangle's data.

## 38. Data Security

38.1. All materials, including software, Data, information and documentation provided by GoTriangle to the Contractor ("GoTriangle Data") during the performance or provision of Services hereunder are the property of GoTriangle of North Carolina and must be kept secure and returned to GoTriangle. The Contractor shall protect Agency Data in its hands from unauthorized disclosure, loss, damage, destruction by natural event, or other eventuality. Proprietary Contractor materials shall be identified to GoTriangle by the Contractor prior to use or provision of Services hereunder and shall remain the property of the Contractor. Derivative works of any Contractor proprietary materials prepared or created during the performance of

provision of Services hereunder shall be provided to GoTriangle as part of the Services. The Contractor shall not access GoTriangle User accounts, or Agency Data, except (i) during data center operations; (ii) in response to service or technical issues; (iii) as required by the express terms of this contract; or (iv) at GoTriangle's written request. The Contractor shall protect the confidentiality of all information, Data, instruments, studies, reports, records and other materials provided to it by GoTriangle or maintained or created in accordance with this Agreement. No such information, Data, instruments, studies, reports, records and other materials in the possession of Contractor shall be disclosed in any form without the prior written consent of GoTriangle.

- 38.2. The Contractor will have written policies governing access to and duplication and dissemination of all such information, Data, instruments, studies, reports, records and other materials. Documents shall be made available to GoTriangle within 48 hours upon request.
- 38.3. Protection of personal privacy and sensitive data. The Contractor acknowledges its responsibility for securing all personally identifiable information data that is collected by GoTriangle and stored in any Contractor site or other Contractor housing systems including, but not limited to, computer systems, networks, servers, or databases, maintained by Contractor or its agents or subcontractors in connection with the provision of the Services. The Contractor warrants, at its sole cost and expense, that it shall implement processes and maintain the security of data classified as restricted or highly restricted; provide reasonable care and efforts to detect fraudulent activity involving the data; and promptly notify GoTriangle of any breaches of security within twenty-four (24) hours of confirmation. "Personally identifiable information" refers to information that can be used to distinguish or trace an individual's identity, either alone or when combined with other personal or identifying information that is linked or linkable to a specific individual.
- 38.4. The Contractor shall provide and maintain secure backup of GoTriangle Data. The Contractor shall implement and maintain secure passwords for its online system providing the Services, as well as all appropriate administrative, physical, technical and procedural safeguards at all times during the term of this Contract to secure such Data from Data Breach, protect the Data and the Services from loss, corruption, unauthorized disclosure, and the introduction of viruses, disabling devices, malware and other forms of malicious or inadvertent acts that can disrupt GoTriangle's access to its Data and the Services. The Contractor shall allow periodic

back-up of GoTriangle data to GoTriangle's infrastructure as GoTriangle requires or as may be provided by law.

- 38.5. The Offeror shall certify to GoTriangle:
  - 38.5.1. The sufficiency of its security standards, tools, technologies and procedures in providing Services under this Contract;
  - 38.5.2. That the system used to provide the Services under this Contract has and will maintain a valid third-party security certification not to exceed one (1) year and is consistent with the data classification level and security controls appropriate for low or moderate information system(s) per the National Institute of Standards and Technology NIST 800-53 revision 4. GoTriangle reserves the right to independently evaluate, audit, and verify such requirements.
  - 38.5.3. That the Services will comply with the following:
    - a) Any DIT security policy regarding Cloud Computing, and the DIT Statewide Information Security Policy Manual; to include encryption requirements as defined below:
      - i. The Contractor shall encrypt all non-public data in transit regardless of the transit mechanism.
      - ii. For engagements where the Contractor stores sensitive personally identifiable or otherwise confidential information, this data shall be encrypted at rest. Examples include, but are not limited to, social security number, date of birth, driver's license number, financial data, federal/state tax information, medical information, personnel records, and passwords. The Contractor's encryption shall be consistent with validated cryptography standards as specified in National Institute of Standards and Technology FIPS140-2, Security Requirements. The key location and other key management details will be discussed and negotiated by both parties. When the Service Provider cannot offer encryption at rest, it must maintain, for the duration of the contract, cyber security liability insurance coverage for any loss resulting from a data breach. Additionally, where

- encryption of data at rest is not possible, the Vendor must describe existing security measures that provide a similar level of protection;
- b) Privacy provisions of the Federal Privacy Act of 1974;
- c) The North Carolina Identity Theft Protection Act, N.C.G.S. Chapter 75, Article 2A (e.g., N.C.G.S. § 75-65 and -66);
- d) The North Carolina Public Records Act, N.C.G.S. Chapter 132; and
- e) Applicable Federal, State and industry standards and guidelines including, but not limited to, relevant security provisions of the Payment Card Industry (PCI) Data Security Standard (PCIDSS) including the PCIDSS Cloud Computing Guidelines, Criminal Justice Information, The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA).
- 38.6. Breach Notification. In the event the Vendor becomes aware of any Security Breach due to Vendor acts or omissions other than in accordance with the terms of the Contract, the Vendor shall, at its own expense, (1) immediately notify GoTriangle's Chief Information Officer of such Security Breach and perform a root cause analysis thereon; (2) investigate such Security Breach; (3) provide a remediation plan, acceptable to GoTriangle, to address the Security Breach and prevent any further incidents; (4) conduct a forensic investigation to determine what systems, data and information have been affected by such event; and (5) cooperate with GoTriangle, and any law enforcement or regulatory officials, credit reporting companies, and credit card associations investigating such Security Breach. GoTriangle shall make the final decision on notifying persons, entities, employees, customers, service providers and/or the public of such Security Breach, and the implementation of the remediation plan. If a notification to a person is required under any Law, then notifications to all persons and entities who are affected by the same event (as reasonably determined by GoTriangle) shall be considered legally required.
- 38.7. Notification Related Costs. Contractor shall reimburse GoTriangle for all Notification Related Costs incurred by GoTriangle arising out of or in connection with any such Security Breach due to Contractor's acts or omissions other than in accordance with the terms of the Contract resulting in a requirement for legally required notifications. "Notification Related Costs" shall include GoTriangle internal and external costs associated with addressing and responding to the

Security Breach including, but not limited to, (1) preparation and mailing or other transmission of legally required notifications; (2) preparation and mailing or other transmission of such other communications to employees, customers, agents or others as GoTriangle deems reasonably appropriate; (3) establishment of a call center or other communications procedures in response to such Security Breach (e.g., customer service FAQs, talking points and training); (4) public relations and other similar crisis management services; (5) legal and accounting fees and expenses associated with GoTriangle's investigation of and response to such event; and (6) costs for credit reporting services that are associated with legally required notifications or are advisable, in GoTriangle's opinion, under the circumstances. If Contractor becomes aware of any Security Breach which is not due to Contractor's acts or omissions other than in accordance with the terms of the Contract, the Contractor shall immediately notify GoTriangle of such Security Breach, and the parties shall reasonably cooperate regarding which of the foregoing or other activities may be appropriate under the circumstances, including any applicable Charges for the same.

- 38.8. Contractor shall allow GoTriangle reasonable access to Services security logs, latency statistics, and other related Services security data that affect this Contract and GoTriangle's Data, at no cost to GoTriangle.
- 38.9. In the course of normal operations, it may become necessary for Contractor to copy or move GoTriangle's Data to another storage destination on its online system, and delete the Data found in the original location. In any such event, Contractor shall preserve and maintain the content and integrity of the Data, except by prior written notice to, and prior written approval by, GoTriangle.
- 38.10. Remote access to Data from outside the continental United States including, without limitation, remote access to Data by authorized Services support staff in identified support centers, is prohibited unless approved in advance by GoTriangle's Chief Information Officer.
- 38.11. In the event of temporary loss of access to Services, Contractor shall restore continuity of Services and Data in accordance with the Service Level Agreement (SLA), Attachment J. Failure to promptly remedy any such temporary loss of access may result in GoTriangle exercising its options for assessing damages under this Contract.

- 38.12. In the event of disaster or catastrophic failure that results in significant Agency Data loss or extended loss of access to Data or Services, Contractor shall notify GoTriangle by the fastest means available and in writing, with additional notification provided to GoTriangle's Chief Information Officer or designee of the contracting agency. Contractor shall provide such notification within twenty-four (24) hours after Contractor reasonably believes there has been such a disaster or catastrophic failure. In the notification, Contractor shall inform GoTriangle of:
  - 38.12.1. The scale and quantity of the Agency Data loss;
  - 38.12.2. What Contractor has done or will do to recover the Agency Data from backups and mitigate any deleterious effect of the Agency Data and Services loss; and
  - 38.12.3. What corrective action Contractor has taken or will take to prevent future Agency Data and Services loss.
  - 38.12.4. If Contractor fails to respond immediately and remedy the failure, GoTriangle may exercise its options for assessing damages or other remedies under this Contract, which costs shall be borne by the Contractor.
- 38.13. Contractor shall investigate the disaster or catastrophic failure and shall share the report of the investigation with GoTriangle. GoTriangle and/or its authorized agents shall have the right to lead (if required by law) or participate in the investigation. Contractor shall cooperate fully with GoTriangle, its agents and law enforcement.
- 38.14. In the event of termination of this contract, cessation of business by Contractor or other event preventing Contractor from continuing to provide the Services, Contractor shall not withhold the GoTriangle Data or any other GoTriangle confidential information or refuse, for any reason, to promptly return to GoTriangle the Agency Data and any other GoTriangle confidential information (including copies thereof) if requested to do so on such media as reasonably requested by GoTriangle, even if GoTriangle is then or is alleged to be in breach of the Contract. As a part of Contractor's obligation to provide the GoTriangle Data, Contractor will also provide GoTriangle any data maps, documentation, software, or other materials necessary, including, without limitation, handwritten notes, materials, working papers or documentation, for GoTriangle to use, translate, interpret, extract and convert the GoTriangle Data.

5. Secure Data Disposal. When requested by GoTriangle, Contractor shall destroy all requested data in all of its forms (e.g., disk, CD/DVD, backup tape, and paper). GoTriangle's Data shall be permanently deleted and shall not be recoverable.							

#### **Instructions to Offerors**

Research Triangle Regional Transportation Authority D/B/A GoTriangle ("GoTriangle") invites qualified and experienced firms with relevant experience to submit Proposals for consideration to contract with GoTriangle to provide Human Resources Information System (HRIS) as set forth in this solicitation.

All inquiries related to the Solicitation must be submitted to the Procurement Officer at Procurement@GoTriangle.org, no later than seven (7) days before the offer due date and time. Offerors are prohibited from contacting any GoTriangle employee other than the Procurement Officer at Procurement@GoTriangle.org concerning this procurement while the solicitation and evaluation are in process. The inquiries shall reference the solicitation page, section and paragraph number. GoTriangle will provide answers and clarifications by issuing an addendum to the solicitation.

An offeror shall not rely on verbal or electronic mail responses to inquiries. A verbal or email reply to an inquiry does not constitute a modification of the solicitation. Only a solicitation addendum issued by the procurement officer and posted on at the GoTriangle's website can modify the Solicitation. It is the responsibility of the offeror to periodically check GoTriangle's website for addendums.

## 1. Proposal Submittal

Prospective Offerors shall submit proposals by email to <a href="mailto:Procurement@GoTriangle.org">Procurement@GoTriangle.org</a>, no later than July 15<sup>st</sup>, 2025, 12:00pm local NC time. No other format will be accepted.

The email Subject line shall be as follows:

#### Offeror's Company Name - PROPOSAL - RFP No. 25-024 HRIS

The maximum size for an incoming email at GoTriangle is 36 MB. If Offerors' proposal exceeds 36MB, the Offerror may submit the proposal documents in multiple emails, as long as: i) all emails that comprise the proposal are received by GoTriangle no later than the indicated due date and time, ii) the emails are marked X of Y (10f3, 20f3, 30f3 etc.).

It is the sole responsibility of the Offeror to ensure that the electronic files submitted are compatible with Microsoft Office and/or Adobe Acrobat, free of viruses and other malware. Proposal submissions shall not be locked, encrypted, or otherwise contain barriers to opening.

Offerors shall provide one (1) proposal for this solicitation. Offerors are strongly encouraged to submit their proposals in a timely manner. **Proposals received after the time and date specified will be rejected and considered ineligible for award.** 

GoTriangle reserves the right to extend the RFP due date at its sole discretion and for its own convenience. GoTriangle will provide a final addendum, if any, a minimum of five (5) days prior to the date for receipt of proposals.

# 2. Anticipated Procurement Schedule

- 2.1. The times indicated in the schedule reflect North Carolina's local time.
- 2.2. GoTriangle reserves the right to modify the procurement schedule set forth above as circumstances may warrant.

Action Item	Responsible Party	Date and Time	
RFP Issue Date	GoTriangle	06/17/25	
Pre-Proposal Conference	GoTriangle	06/24/25 12:00 PM EST	
Written Inquires Due Date and Time	Prospective Offerors	06/24/25 5:00 PM EST	
Final Addendum Issued, as applicable	GoTriangle	07/08/25	
Proposal Due Date and Time	Offerors	07/15/25 12:00 PM EST	
Proposal Evaluation	GoTriangle	07/15/25 - 08/08/25	
Product Demonstration, as applicable	Qualified Offerors		
Negotiations, as applicable	GoTriangle, Qualified Offerors		
BAFO Due Date and Time, as applicable	Selected Offerors		
Notice of Intent to Award	GoTriangle	08/8/25	
Board Approval	GoTriangle	08/13/25	
Contract Award	GoTriangle	08/15/25	

### 3. Contents of Submittal

The proposal information shall be presented in a clear, comprehensive, and concise manner and in the prescribed format. In order for GoTriangle to adequately compare and evaluate qualifications objectively, proposals shall be submitted in accordance with the following format in terms of order. The proposals shall be prepared simply and economically, providing straightforward and concise information. Materials other than those specifically requested at each stage of the selection process will not be considered and shall not be submitted at any time during the selection process. Proposals shall be submitted to GoTriangle on the most favorable of terms possible from the standpoint of cost, quality and technical capability.

Offerors shall limit their submissions to the following information unless otherwise stated:

## 3.1. **Cover Sheet** (NTE 1 page)

The cover sheet shall clearly present the project title, the Offeror's name, the RFP title and number, and the date of submission.

## 3.2. Table of Contents

## 3.3. A Concise Letter of Interest (NTE 2 pages)

- 3.3.1. The name and address of the Offeror and the state in which it is incorporated and chiefly located;
- 3.3.2. A brief description of the Offeror and its team, and its interest in performing the required professional services;
- 3.3.3. The name, address, telephone and e-mail address of one designated contact for the Offeror;
- 3.3.4. Acknowledgment of all addenda to the RFP document (each addendum must be identified individually); and
- 3.3.5. Signature of a duly authorized official of the Offeror.

#### 3.4. Statement re: Judgments and Litigation (no page limit)

- 3.4.1. A statement listing any judgments against the Offeror within the last five (5) years, and any pending litigation related to professional conduct or services.
- 3.4.2. Full disclosure of any Public Sector contracts terminated for cause or convenience in the past five (5) years; and,
- 3.4.3. Full disclosure of any criminal or civil offense.

## 3.5. Prospective Contractor Responsibility Statement (NTE 3 pages)

To be deemed responsible, the Offeror shall provide a brief narrative that addresses how it meets each of the above responsibility criteria.

- 3.5.1. Have adequate financial resources to perform the contract,
- 3.5.2. Be able to comply with delivery or performance schedules, taking into consideration all existing commercial and governmental business commitments:
- 3.5.3. Have a satisfactory performance record, integrity and business ethics;
- 3.5.4. Have the necessary organization, accounting and operational controls, and technical skills;
- 3.5.5. Have the necessary equipment and facilities;
- 3.5.6. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award under applicable laws and regulations.

## 3.6. **Technical Proposal**

The Offerors shall complete the **Technical Proposal** tab within the solicitation **Attachment B**. If any option other than "Standard Functionality" is selected in the "Functionality Status" field, please provide an explanation in the Comments column.

## 3.7. **Implementation Approach** (NTE 10 pages)

The Offeror shall provide:

- 3.7.1. A detailed Implementation Approach that demonstrates a clear, structured, and realistic plan for deploying the proposed Human Resources Information System (HRIS).
- 3.7.2. A visual representation (separate from the section's 5 page limit) of the proposed project timeline, such as a Gantt-style chart. This timeline must clearly illustrate key phases, milestones, task durations, dependencies, and critical path activities associated with the implementation of the proposed solution. The visual should support the narrative Implementation Approach and demonstrate a realistic and achievable schedule.
- 3.7.3. Offeror's proposed communication processes that will be used to ensure effective coordination and management of work performance across the organizational structure.

## 3.8. **Offeror's Experience** (NTE 5 pages)

- 3.8.1. The Offeror's past performance on similar contracts will be evaluated to assess their ability to successfully meet contract requirements. Evaluation factors will include the quality and timeliness of deliverables, effectiveness of communication with contracting parties, proactive management practices, and overall customer satisfaction.
- 3.8.2. GoTriangle reserves the right to determine the sources of past performance information used in the evaluation process. This information may come from references provided by the Offeror, GoTriangle's own experience with the Offeror, other government agencies, commercial entities, or any other relevant sources.
- 3.8.3. Offerors shall provide the following past performance information:
  - 3.8.3.1. A description of its previous experience performing work that is similar in nature, size, and complexity to the services outlined in this RFP. For each project referenced, the Offeror should clearly specify the scope of work, the similarities to the current requirement, and the Offeror's specific level of responsibility.
  - 3.8.3.2. A list of three (3) projects similar in scope, magnitude and complexity to the Scope of Work described in this RFP that the Offeror has undertaken within the last five (5) years. The list shall include:
    - Name of client;
    - Contract Title; and
    - Contrat amount.

## 3.9. Staffing Plan and Key Personnel (NTE 5 pages)

The Offeror shall provide:

3.9.1. A comprehensive staffing plan that demonstrates how it supports and aligns with the Offeror's overall management approach and other relevant elements of the proposal. The plan should clearly explain how the Offeror has identified the critical skills and competencies required to successfully perform the work, as well as the strategy for recruiting and assigning personnel with these essential qualifications.

- 3.9.2. Organizational Chart that illustrates the proposed team structure, key personnel, reporting relationships, and the roles and responsibilities of each individual assigned to GoTriangle. Each team member's specific tasks and areas of responsibility should be clearly outlined.
  - 3.9.2.1. A Responsible, Accountable, Consulted, and Informed (RACI) Chart (separate from the section's 5 page limit) will be considered a plus.
  - 3.9.2.2. For each individual proposed, identify their employment status;
- 3.9.3. Staff training plan that describes how personnel will be prepared and supported to meet performance expectations.
- 3.9.4. Resumes (NTE 2 pages per person, separate from the section's 5 page limit) of the proposed Project Manager and other Key Personnel who will be responsible for the performance of the work. The resumes should not be counted towards the NTE 10 page limit for the section 3.7.

## 3.10. Cost Proposal

The Offerors shall provide pricing in the **Attachment B**, the **Cost Proposal Tab**.

#### 4. Addenda

- 4.1. Any changes to this RFP document will be made by written addenda issued by GoTriangle. Upon issuance, the addenda will be considered part of the RFP document and will prevail over inconsistent or conflicting provisions contained in earlier versions of the RFP document. Addenda will be available for download from the GoTriangle website in the same manner as the RFP document at <a href="https://GoTriangle.org/request-proposals-rfp">https://GoTriangle.org/request-proposals-rfp</a>.
- 4.2. If a valid e-mail address is provided upon download of the RFP document. GoTriangle may notify the Offerors of an addenda, however it is the responsibility of the offeror to periodically check GoTriangle's website for addendas.
- 4.3. Offerors shall acknowledge their receipt of all addenda in the Letter of Interest submitted with their proposal submission, with each addendum listed separately. As with other required documentation, proposals that fail to provide a detailed listing of addenda received may be excluded from further consideration for this solicitation.
- 4.4. A revised due date for proposals (if applicable) will be stated in each addendum.

## 5. Questions and Clarifications

- 5.1. All inquiries related to the Solicitation must be submitted to the Procurement Officer at <a href="Procurement@GoTriangle.org">Procurement@GoTriangle.org</a>, no later than seven (7) days before the offer due date and time. Offerors are prohibited from contacting any GoTriangle employee other than the Procurement Officer at <a href="Procurement@GoTriangle.org">Procurement@GoTriangle.org</a> concerning this procurement while the solicitation and evaluation are in process. The inquiries shall reference the solicitation page, section and paragraph number. GoTriangle will provide answers and clarifications by issuing an addendum to the solicitation.
- 5.2. An Offeror shall not rely on verbal or electronic mail responses to inquiries. A verbal or email reply to an inquiry does not constitute a modification of the solicitation. Only a solicitation addendum issued by the procurement officer and posted on at the GoTriangle's website can modify the Solicitation. It is the responsibility of the offeror to periodically check GoTriangle's website for addendums.

## 6. Pre-Offer Conference

- 6.1. The date, time and location of the pre-offer conference, if any, will be listed in the solicitation section Instructions to Offerors, section two (2) Anticipated Procurement Schedule.
- 6.2. During the Pre-Offer Conference, GoTriangle will reiterate the key priorities and objectives of the solicitation, and review the submission requirements and instructions.
- 6.3. Attending the conference is not required in order to submit responses to this RFP; however, it is highly recommended. The prospective Offerors are encouraged to ask questions and seek clarifications. GoTriangle is not obligated to respond during the conference. The questions, oral and/or written, will be answered per the process described in the solicitiation document.

## 7. Selection Procedures

- 7.1. Proposals will first be reviewed for completeness of the components specified in the Section 3 of this RFP document. The absence of any required information will result in exclusion from further analysis.
- 7.2. GoTriangle will make the award to the responsive and responsible Contractor whose proposal is most advantageous to the GoTriangle and offer the "Best Value".
- 7.3. GoTriangle may waive any irregularities in any Proposal that does not prejudice other Contractors. GoTriangle further reserves the right to negotiate with any source whatsoever. A Contract may be negotiated with the Contractor whose proposal is

- considered by GoTriangle in its sole discretion to be most advantageous to GoTriangle.
- 7.4. No Contractor shall have any cause of action against GoTriangle arising out of the methods by which Proposals are evaluated. The selection of the successful Contractor shall be at the sole discretion of GoTriangle.
- 7.5. A Contractor's signed response to this RFP on the Attachment A, Offeror Form signifies its acceptance of the obligations and rights specified herein. Submission of a Proposal indicates acceptance by the Contractor of the conditions contained in this RFP unless clearly and specifically noted in the Contractor's submittal and confirmed in the Contract between GoTriangle and the selected Contractor.
- 7.6. GoTriangle reserves the right to reject any and all proposals.

#### 8. Evaluation

8.1. The following criteria listed in order of importance will be used in evaluating the Proposals:

No.	Criteria
1	Technical Proposal, Functionality and Requirements Fit
2	Implementation Approach, Timeline and Key Personnel
3	Offeror Experience and References
4	Cost Proposal

- 8.2. The Evaluation Committee, comprised of GoTriangle stakeholders, will review all offers. All offers will be initially classified as being responsive or non-responsive. If an offer is found non-responsive, it will not be considered further. All responsive offers will be evaluated based on stated evaluation criteria.
- 8.3. The Evaluation Committee may invite the highest ranked Offerors to conduct Oral Presentations and Product Demonstrations. GoTriangle will provide the date, time, location and agenda to the qualified Offerors with a minimum of five (5) business days' notice.
- 8.4. GoTriangle may request Best and Final Offers (BAFOs) from the Offerors in a competitive range. Failure to submit a BAFO by the due date and time shall disqualify the non-responsive Offerors from further consideration.

- 8.5. The Evaluation Committee will evaluate BAFO(s), oral presentations and product demonstrations as part of the Offerors' respective proposals to determine the final rankings. Approval and award of the contract will be made by the GoTriangle Board of Trustees.
- 8.6. GoTriangle will not compensate or reimburse Offerors for any costs incurred as a result of this selection process and subsequent contract negotiations.

## 9. Public Records and Proprietary Information

Documents received by GoTriangle in response to a solicitation are public records and subject to public inspection and copying. Some bid records are public as soon as received by GoTriangle, others become public at bid opening and others at bid award.

- 9.1. The North Carolina Public Records Act (N.C.G.S.) 132-1 et seq. authorizes GoTriangle to withhold from public inspection and copying legitimate and properly marked "trade secret" if the record meets all of the following conditions:
  - 9.1.1. It is a "trade secret" as defined in §66-152(3); and
  - 9.1.2. It is the property of a private "person" as defined in §66-152(2); and
  - 9.1.3. It is disclosed or furnished to GoTriangle in connection with a bid or proposal;
  - 9.1.4. It is marked as "confidential" or as a "trade secret" at the time of its initial disclosure to GoTriangle.
- 9.2. If an Offeror submits to GoTriangle a proposal where any record, or portion of a record, constitutes a trade secret as defined in \$66-152(3), the Offeror should clearly mark the particular record, or portion of the record, that meets the statutory definition as TRADE SECRET or CONFIDENTIAL TRADE SECRET. In the event GoTriangle receives a public records request for material properly designated as a "trade secret," GoTriangle will notify the Offeror of the request and allow the Offeror a 7-day period to respond in writing and provide written justification that the specific record is entitled to be withheld under \$132-1.2. GoTriangle will require that the Offeror indemnify GoTriangle in the event a challenge is brought for the withholding of a record based on the "trade secret" exception to the Public Records Act.

## 10. Contractual Relationships

10.1. GoTriangle will execute a Contract for Services to be performed with the selected Offeror. The selected Offeror's contractual responsibility must solely rest with one firm or legal entity, which shall not be a subsidiary or affiliate with limited resources.

Offeror's proposal must clearly indicate the firm or entity responsible for Contract execution (Attachment A).

10.2. Subcontracting is not allowed under this contract.

## 11. Disadvantage Business Enterprise (DBE) Participation

- 11.1. Pursuant to 49 C.F.R. Part 26, GoTriangle has established a Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Program that states "GoTriangle shall not discriminate in any manner on the basis of race, color, sex or national origin, and shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that certified Disadvantaged Business Enterprises have the maximum opportunity to participate in the performance of contracts.
- 11.2. In conformity with North Carolina State law, it is the policy of GoTriangle to encourage and promote the use of minority contractors, physically handicapped contractors, and women contractors in the purchasing of goods and the provision of services. Proposers are encouraged to utilize minority, handicapped and women-owned businesses to the extent possible when assembling its team.
- 11.3. Any questions related to the GoTriangle's DBE Program shall be directed to Ms. Jamila Ormond, Director of Equal Opportunity Employment/Disadvantaged Business Enterprises at <a href="mailto:jormond@gotriangle.org">jormond@gotriangle.org</a>.

## 12. Modification and Withdrawal of Proposals

- 12.1. Offeror may without prejudice, modify or withdraw its proposal by written request provided that such request is received by GoTriangle not later than 24 hours prior to the time and date that proposals are due.
- 12.2. GoTriangle reserves the right to include as contractual obligations any additional requirements that arise or result from contract negotiations between GoTriangle and the successful Proposer.

## 13. Proposal Rejection / Reserved Rights

- 13.1. GoTriangle reserves the right to reject any or all proposals received and to re-solicit or to cancel the procurement if deemed to be in the best interest of GoTriangle. GoTriangle shall not be obligated to indicate its reasons for rejecting all proposals, for re-soliciting, or for canceling the procurement.
- 13.2. Execution of a contract pursuant to this procurement is expressly dependent upon appropriation by the GoTriangle Board of Trustees of necessary funding and upon Offeror's signature of the pro forma contract with GoTriangle.

## 14. News Releases

Proposers shall not make news releases pertaining to this RFP, or the project to which it relates, without prior GoTriangle approval.

## 15. Identifying Conflicts of Interest

## 15.1. Duty to Disclose Potential Conflicts of Interests

- 15.1.1. If a Proposer believes that there are no conflicts of interest, the Proposer shall submit a statement in its Proposal on the form provided in the RFP (Submittal Form, Certification Regarding Conflict of Interest), certifying that to its best knowledge and belief no conflicts of interest exist. The Proposer must obtain the same information from potential subconsultants prior to award of a subcontract and submit the information to GoTriangle.
- 15.1.2. Failure to provide the relevant statements described above, or any additional information as may be required by GoTriangle to make its determinations, may result in disqualification of the Proposer for award. If nondisclosure or misrepresentation is discovered after award, the resulting contract may be terminated. If after award the Consultant discovers a conflict of interest an immediate and full disclosure shall be made in writing to GoTriangle's General Counsel.

### 15.2. Identifying and Remedying the Potential for Bias

The potential for bias exists where the Consultant's objectivity may be impaired in the performance of the Scope of Work because of existing contracts.

### 15.3. Identifying and Remedying the Unfair Competitive Advantage

All competitive advantages are not by themselves unfair and, if an advantage is determined to be unfair because of the circumstances, it may be possible to remedy it.

### 16. Protest Procedures

### 16.1. Protests Received Prior to Receipt of Proposals

Protests concerning the procedures of this solicitation must be submitted in writing to the GoTriangle's President & CEO no later than five (5) business days prior to the date set for the receipt of Proposals. Upon receipt of a protest, the President & CEO may, at their discretion, extend or postpone the deadline for receipt of Proposals. The President & CEO will answer the protest in writing not later than three (3) business days prior to the deadline date for receipt of Proposals.

#### 16.2. Selection Protests

The Evaluation Committee recommendation will be based on the highest ranked Offeror whose proposal was determined to be most beneficial for GoTriangle. Following the announcement of the award redomendation and the Intent to Award, any Offeror may file a protest regarding the recommendation. The protest must be in writing and must be received by the GoTriangle General Manager not later than five (5) working days GoTriangle will consider all protests regarding the recommended Proposer prior to executing the contract.

## 16.3. Filing Procedures

Any and all protests filed with the GoTriangle President & CEO shall:

- Include the name and address of the protester.
- Identify the procurement.
- Contain a statement of the legal and factual grounds for the protest and any supporting documentation. The grounds for the protest must be fully supported.
- Indicate the ruling or relief desired from GoTriangle.

Protests shall be filed with the GoTriangle President & CEO, via personal delivery or courrier to 4600 Emperor Boulevard, Suite 100, Durham, NC 27703. The President & CEO will respond to each substantive issue raised in the protest. With regard to a properly filed protest, GoTriangle's determination will be final. Violations of federal law or regulations will be handled by the complaint process stated within that law or regulation. Violations of state law, or state or local regulations will be under the jurisdiction of the appropriate state or local authorities.

#### 16.4. Protests Referred to the FTA

The FTA will only entertain a protest that alleges GoTriangle failed to follow the above protest procedures. Any such protest must be filed in accordance with FTA Circular 4220.1F.

#### 16.5. Costs and Damages

All costs of a protest shall be the responsibility of the protestor and undertaken at the protestor's expense. GoTriangle will not be liable for damages to the Offeror filing the protest or to any participant in the protest, on any basis, expressed or implied.

RFP No.	25-024	Human	Resources	Informat	ion System
DEFINO.	25-024.	Hulliali	nesources	IIIIOIIIIat	.1011 37316111

## **Attachments**



## **Attachment A**

## Solicitation No.

## **Offeror Form**

25-024

Offered a Local Name		
Offeror's Legal Name	•	
Address (street, city,	state) 🗆 Main Office	e 🗆 Branch Office 🗆 Other:
Principal to Contact/	Title	
Email		Telephone
Corporate Structure:	·	Corporation □ Partnership □ Limited Liability Compan
State of Incorporation	on	Year Established
State of North Carol By signing this Form,	_	Federal Tax Identification No. the solicitation addenda(s) number:
solicitation is a state applied for. The unc	ement of facts and that the	est of his/her knowledge, the information presented in this firm has the financial capability to perform the work being ertifies that it knows of no personal and/or organizational ate, and local law.
I certify (or declare) us true and correct.	under penalty of perjury und	der the laws of the State of North Carolina that the foregoing
Signature		Date
Print Name		Title



# Attachment B Technical and Cost Proposal

Solicitation No.

25-024

Uploaded as a separate Excel document.



## Attachment C Minimum Insurance Requirements

Solicitation No.

25-024

4		_ £:.	_:+:	
	1 )	ети	TITE	ons

1 1	"Contractor"	as used in this Exhibit shall mean:	
	Contiductor	ao aooa iii tiilo Exilibit ollatt illoali.	

- 1.2. "GoTriangle" as used in this Exhibit shall mean the Research Triangle Regional Public Transportation Authority dba GoTriangle.
- 1.3. "Contract" as used in this Exhibit shall mean the agreement or contract to which this Exhibit is attached.
- 2. General Terms. Contractor shall secure and maintain at its own expense each type of insurance, with the applicable minimum coverage limits, as specified in this Exhibit. Contractor shall secure the required insurance policies prior to performing any work, activity, or service under this Contract. Contractor shall maintain such policies throughout the term of this Contract, unless a longer period is required pursuant to the provisions herein. Any insurance carried by Contractor is primary insurance and shall not be considered contributory with any insurance carried by GoTriangle. In the event that any portion of Contractor's obligations under this Contract are subcontracted by Contractor, then Contractor shall require each subcontractor to secure and maintain insurance satisfying the requirements of this Exhibit, or in the alternative, Contractor may secure and maintain the insurance on the subcontractor's behalf. The insurance requirements set forth in this Exhibit do not modify or otherwise relieve Contractor of Contractor's other obligations as stated elsewhere in this Contract.
- 3. <u>Commercial General Liability</u>. Contractor shall secure and maintain occurrence-form Commercial General Liability insurance, including coverage for premises and operations, products and completed operations, independent contractors, personal injury and blanket contractual liability, with limits of not less than: General Aggregate (\$2 million); Products and Completed Operations Aggregate (\$2 million); Personal and Advertising Injury Aggregate (\$1 million); and Each Occurrence (\$1 million). Such insurance shall be primary and non-contributory with any insurance carried by GoTriangle.
- 4. <u>Worker's Compensation and Employer's Liability</u>. Contractor shall secure and maintain Worker's Compensation insurance complying with North Carolina statutory requirements covering all employees and owners, and including Employer's Liability coverage with limits of not less than \$1 million per accident, \$1 million disease per policy limit, and \$1 million disease per employee limit. Coverage shall extend to all states in which operations are conducted.
- 5. <u>Automobile Liability</u>. Contractor shall secure and maintain Automobile Liability insurance with a limit of not less than \$1 million combined single limit. Such insurance shall include coverage for all owned, hired, and non-owned motorized vehicles both on and off the project site. Such insurance shall be primary and non-contributory with any insurance carried by GoTriangle.

- 6. <u>Umbrella/Excess Liability</u>. Contractor shall secure and maintain Umbrella or Excess Liability insurance on a "following form" basis with a limit of not less than \$1 million providing excess coverage over and above Contractor's primary insurance for Commercial General Liability, Automobile Liability, and Employer's Liability. Such insurance shall be primary and non-contributory with any insurance carried by GoTriangle.
- 7. Professional Liability. Contractor shall secure and maintain Professional Liability insurance providing coverage for errors or omissions committed in the course of Contractor's performance under this Contract. The coverage shall be maintained during the term of this Contract and for at least 3 years following completion of Contractor's performance. The policy shall have limits of not less than \$5 million per claim and in the annual aggregate. The policy may contain a deductible of a maximum of \$250,000, but in such case the deductible shall be the sole responsibility of Contractor, and no portion of the deductible is the responsibility of GoTriangle.
- 8. <u>Privacy and Network Liability (Cyber)</u>. Contractor shall secure and maintain Privacy and Network Liability (Cyber) insurance with a limit of not less than \$5 million aggregate and providing coverage for network security, third party liability, notification services, and cyber extortion.

### 9. Other Terms

- 9.1. <u>Qualified Insurers</u>. Contractor shall secure and maintain the required insurance policies from insurance carriers authorized to conduct business in the State of North Carolina with a current A.M. Best rating of "A—" or better.
- 9.2. <u>Waiver of Subrogation</u>. The following policies of insurance shall include a waiver of subrogation in favor of Research Triangle Regional Public Transportation Authority dba GoTriangle: Commercial General Liability; Worker's Compensation and Employer's Liability; Automobile Liability; Privacy and Network Liability (Cyber) and Umbrella/Excess.
- 9.3. <u>Additional Insured</u>. The following policies of insurance shall name Research Triangle Regional Public Transportation Authority dba GoTriangle as an additional insured: Commercial General Liability; Automobile Liability; and Umbrella/Excess Liability.
- 9.4. <u>Notice to GoTriangle</u>. If any required coverage lapses for any reason, Contractor shall provide immediate written notice to GoTriangle. Each policy shall also contain notification provisions whereby GoTriangle will receive not less than 30 days' written notice prior to the cancellation of the policy.
- 9.5. <u>Claims-made Insurance</u>. If any insurance policy required by this Exhibit is secured on a claims-made basis, then such policy shall provide that:
  - 9.5.1. The retroactive date shall coincide with or precede Contractor's commencement of performance under this Contract (including subsequent policies purchased as renewals or replacements);
  - 9.5.2. The policy shall allow for the reporting of circumstances or incidents that might give rise to future claims;

- 9.5.3. Contractor shall maintain similar insurance under the same terms and conditions for at least 3 years following completion of all performance under this Contract; and
- 9.5.4. If insurance is terminated for any reason, Contractor shall purchase an extended reporting provision of at least 3 years to report claims arising from Contractor's performance.
- 9.6. <u>Deductibles and Self-insured Retention</u>. GoTriangle will review all deductible and self-insured retention (SIR) amounts and may require Contractor to secure alternate insurance when in GoTriangle's sole discretion such amounts are not reasonable under the circumstances. The payment of any deductible is the sole responsibility of Contractor.
- 9.7. <u>Certificates of Insurance</u>. Before commencing performance under this Contract, for each required policy Contractor shall furnish a certificate of insurance (COI) to GoTriangle that demonstrates coverage in compliance with the requirements of this Exhibit and includes the following:
  - 9.7.1. Effective and expiration dates of the policy
  - 9.7.2. Amount of any deductible or self-insured retention
  - 9.7.3. Any exclusions to the policy which are not part of the standard form
  - 9.7.4. Reference to GoTriangle Contract Number identified on the first page of this Exhibit
  - 9.7.5. Title block formatted as follows: **Research Triangle Regional Public Transportation Authority dba GoTriangle, PO Box 13787, Research Triangle Park, NC 27709**



## **Attachment D**

## Solicitation No.

## **E-Verify Employer Compliance Statement**

25-024

## E-Verify for Public Contracts: HB 786 (S.L. 2013-418)

The legislation referenced prohibits governmental units from awarding to or entering into contracts unless the contractor and the contractor's subcontractors comply with the E- Verify requirements of Article 2 of Chapter 64 of the NC General Statutes.

Contractor, hereafter Employer, understands that E-Verify is a federal program operated by the United States Department of Homeland Security and other federal agencies, or any successor or equivalent program used to verify the work authorization of newly hired employees pursuant to federal law. Employer is defined as: Any person, business entity, or other organization that transacts business in this State and that employs <u>25 or more</u> employees in this State. This term does not include State agencies, counties, municipalities, or other governmental bodies.

Employer understands that Employers, as Defined Herein, Must Use E-Verify. Each employer, after hiring an employee to work in the United States, shall verify the work authorization of the employee through E-Verify in accordance with NCGS 64-26(a).

Therefore, all employers must be in compliance with the E-Verify requirements to enter into contracts with GoTriangle.

Employer with less than 25 employees, not required to use E-Verify

Below check the type of employer and complete the information.

Ш	Employer with tess than 25 employees, not required to use E-verny.		
	Employer with 25 or more employees, required by NCSL 213-418 to use E-Verify. Yes, we comply.		
Com	pany Name		
Nam	e and Title of Authorized Signee		
Signa	ature	Date	



## Attachment E

## Solicitation No.

Iran Divestment Act Certification

25-024

## IRAN DIVESTMENT ACT CERTIFICATION REQUIRED BY N.C.G.S. 143C-6A-5(a)

As of the date stated on this form, the contractor or bidder/offeror named below is not listed on the Final Divestment List created by the State Treasurer pursuant to N.C.G.S. 143-6A-4.

The undersigned hereby certifies that he or she is authorized by the contractor or bidder/offeror named below to make the foregoing statement.

Company Name		
Printed Name and Title		
Signature and Date		

Notes to persons signing this form:

N.C.G.S. 143C-6A-5(a) requires this certification for bids or contracts with the State of North Carolina, a North Carolina local government, or any other political subdivision of the State of North Carolina. The certification is required at the following times:

- · When a bid is submitted
- When a contract is entered into (if the certification was not already made when the vendor made its bid)
- · When a contract is renewed or assigned

N.C.G.S. 143C-6A-5(b) requires that contractors with the State, a North Carolina local government, or any other political subdivision of the State of North Carolina must riot utilize any subcontractor found on the State Treasurer's Final Divestment List.



## **Attachment F**

Solicitation No.

25-024

## **Boycott of Israel Divestment Act Certification**

## COMPANIES BOYCOTTING ISRAEL DIVESTMENT ACT CERTIFICATION REQUIRED BY N.C.G.S. \$147-86.81 et seq. \*

Pursuant to N.C.G.S. §147-86.81, any person identified as engaging in a boycott of Israel, as defined by this Act. In addition, State agencies must divest from investments in such restricted companies, determined by appearing on the Final Divestment List created by the State Treasurer pursuant to §147-86.81, is ineligible to contract with the State of North Carolina or any political subdivision of the State.

As of the date listed below, the supplier or bidder listed above is not listed on the Final Divestment List created by the State Treasurer pursuant to §147-86.81.

The undersigned hereby certifies that he or she is authorized by the contracting party or bidder listed above to make the foregoing statement.

_

N.C.G.S. §147-86.81 requires this certification for bids or contracts with the State of North Carolina, a North Carolina local government, or any other political subdivision of the State of North Carolina. The certification is required at the following times:

- · When a bid is submitted
- When a contract is entered into (if the vendor made its bid)
- When a contract is renewed or assigned

N.C.G.S. § 147-86.81(b) requires that contractors with the State, a North Carolina local government, or any other political subdivision of the State of North Carolina must not utilize any subcontractor found on the State Treasurer's Final Divestment List.

The State Treasurer's Final Divestment List can be found on the State Treasurer's website at: <a href="https://www.nctreasurer.com/inside-the-department/OpenGovernment/Pages/Divestment-Acts-Resources.aspx">https://www.nctreasurer.com/inside-the-department/OpenGovernment/Pages/Divestment-Acts-Resources.aspx</a> and will be updated every 180 days.

<sup>\*</sup> Note: Enacted by Session Law 2017-193 as N.C.G.S. \$147-86.81et seg.



## **Attachment G**

## Solicitation No.

## **Certification Regarding Conflict of Interest**

25-024

	Bidder/Offeror is required to certify that performance of the work will not create any conflicts of interest sclose any actual or potential conflicts of interest by completing <b>one</b> of the following statements:
	The Bidder / Offeror hereby certifies that to the best of its knowledge and belief, and in accordance with GoTriangle's Procedures and Guidelines for Preventing Organizational Conflicts of Interest, performance of the services described in the Scope of Work will not create any conflicts of interest for the Bidder / Offeror, any affiliates, any proposed subconsultants, and key personnel of any of these organizations.
	The Bidder / Offeror hereby discloses the following circumstances that could give rise to a conflict of interest for the Bidder / Offeror, any affiliates, any proposed subconsultants, and key personnel of any of these organizations. (Attach additional sheets as needed.)
	Name of the Individual/Company to which potential conflict of interest might apply:
	Proposed Remedy:
Cor	mpany Name
Prir	nted Name and Title
Sigi	nature and Date



## Attachment H Statement of Non-Collusion

Solicitation No.

25-024

BY SUBMISSION OF THIS PROPOSAL, BIDDER / OFFEROR AND EACH PERSON SIGNING ON BEHALF OF BIDDER / OFFEROR CERTIFIES AS TO ITS OWN ORGANIZATION, UNDER PENALTY OF PERJURY, THAT TO THE BEST OF HIS/HER KNOWLEDGE AND BELIEF:

- 1) The prices of this proposal have been arrived at independently, without collusion, consultation, communication, or agreement with any other Bidder / Offeror or competitor, for the purpose of restricting competition or as to any matter relating to price.
- 2) Unless otherwise required by law, the prices quoted in this proposal have not been knowingly disclosed by Bidder / Offeror and will not be disclosed by Bidder / Offeror directly or indirectly to any other Bidder / Offeror or competitor before proposals are opened.
- 3) No attempt has been made or will be made by the Bidder / Offeror to induce any other person, partnership or corporation to submit or not to submit a bid on any portion of the Project work.

IF, FOR ANY REASON, BIDDER / OFFEROR CANNOT CERTIFY AS SET FORTH ABOVE, BIDDER / OFFEROR SHALL SO STATE AND SET FORTH THE REASONS IN DETAIL BELOW:

Subscribed to under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of North Carolina, this				
day of	, 20	as the act and deed of said corporation or partnership		
Signature and Date				
Print Name and Title				
Bidder / Offeror Company Name				



# Attachment I Workforce Location

Solicitation No.

25-024

In accordance with N.C.G.S. §143B-1361(b), Bidder/Offeror shall specify if resources or staff located outside the United States will be utilized for the performance of any portion of the solicited services. Will Bidder / Offeror perform any work outside of the United States? ☐ YES If yes, the Bidder/Offeror shall disclose its intended use of resources or personnel located outside the United States, including the specific countries and cities where such resources will be based. GoTriangle will evaluate risks, costs, and other factors associated with the Bidder / Offeror's utilization of offshore resources prior to making an award for any such Bidder / Offeror's offer. Signature and Date Print Name and Title Bidder / Offeror Company Name



# Attachment J Service Level Agreement

Solicitation No.

25-024

This Service Level Agreement (SLA) defines the service expectations and po	erformance metrics for the HRIS
provided by	(hereinafter "Contractor") to
GoTriangle's Human Resources Department, and GoTriangle's employees.	

#### 1. Definitions

- 1.1. **Credit** means 1% of the monthly recurring Post Implementation Support cost for each 1% below the System Availability SLA, not to exceed 100% of Monthly Subscription Fees.
- 1.2. **Downtime** means the Total Minutes in the Month during which the production version of the Service is not available, except for Excluded Downtimes.
- 1.3. Excluded Downtime means the Total Minutes in the Month attributable to a Maintenance Window; or any Major Upgrade Window for which GoTriangle has been notified at least five (5) business days in advance; or unavailability caused by factors outside of Contractor's reasonable control, such as unpredictable and unforeseeable events that could not have been avoided even if reasonable care had been exercised.
- 1.4. **Maintenance Window** means recurring maintenance windows, performed outside of business hours, as established by the Contractor and approved by GoTriangle.
- 1.5. **Major Upgrade Window** means the extended upgrade maintenance windows for which GoTriangle has been notified at least five (5) business days in advance.
- 1.6. Month means a calendar month.
- 1.7. **System Availability** means a 99.00% System Availability Percentage during each Month for the production version of the Cloud Service.
- 1.8. **Total Minutes in the Month** are measured 24 hours at 7 days a week during a Month.

## 2. Responsibilities

- 2.1. Contractor shall:
  - 2.1.1. Ensure system uptime and performance
  - 2.1.2. Provide services during business hours, Monday Friday, 8:00 AM to 5:00 PM local NC time.
  - 2.1.3. Provide an emergency, after-hours support only for Critical incidents.
  - 2.1.4. Resolve incidents in a timely manner, and
  - 2.1.5. Communicate planned outages

## 2.2. GoTriangle HR Department will:

- 2.2.1. Report issues via the ticketing system,
- 2.2.2. Provide accurate information during support requests,
- 2.2.3. Participate in the system testing during up

## 3. HRIS Availability

Metric	Target
System Availability	99.00% monthly (excluding scheduled maintenance)

## 4. Service Availability and Performance Metrics

Metric	Target	
System Uptime	99.00% monthly (excluding scheduled maintenance)	
Ticket Response Rate	e Rate 98.00% within SLA response time	
Ticket Resolution Rate	95.00% monthly compliance	

## 5. Incident Response Times

Incident Level	Description	Response Time	Resolution Time
Critical	System down	1 hour	4 hours
High	Major feature not working	4 hours	1 business day
Medium	Minor issues	1 business day	3 business days
Low	Cosmetic, enhancement request	2 business days	As scheduled

## 6. System Availability Report

The Contractor shall provide a monthly report to GoTriangle, describing the System Availability Percentage for the HRIS Service through the HRIS online portal, or by email to the GoTriangle CIO.

## 7. Credit

- 7.1. If the Contractor fails to meet the HRIS System Availability a particular Month, GoTriangle may claim a Credit, which GoTriangle may apply to a future invoice relating to the Services provided under this SLA.
- 7.2. Claims for a Credit must be made in good faith and through a documented submission of a support case within thirty (30) business days after the end of the relevant Month in which the Contractor did not meet the HRIS System Availability.